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NORTHERN VISION DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
2021 ANNUAL REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS 
 
We provide you with this annual report on the activities of Northern Vision Development Limited 
Partnership (“NVD” or “the Partnership”). Included herewith are financial statements as at and for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, audited by Deloitte LLP, along with comparable results for the previous year.   
 
The Partnership’s Annual General Meeting will be held in person at the Gold Rush Inn Town Hall at 411 
Main Street and by Zoom link at 4:00 pm (Yukon Time) on Monday May 9, 2021. The annual meeting of 
shareholders of the General Partner, Northern Vision Development Corp, will be at the same location and 
by Zoom link at 4:30 pm (Yukon Time) on Monday May 9, 2021. We invite all interested stakeholders to join 
us for the Limited Partner Annual General Meeting to receive an update on the progress of the Partnership.  
We will be holding a Stakeholder event at the same location commencing at 5:30 pm at which time we will 
officially unveil plans for the Hyatt Place on Main Street and the River’s Reach IV project while also 
providing an update on Normandy Manor. We will take that opportunity to thank our stakeholders for their 
tremendous support over the last two COVID-impacted years and to celebrate a return to a more normal 
operating environment.  

 
Overview  
NVD, a private real estate partnership established in February 2004, owns, manages, acquires, sells and 
develops hospitality, commercial and residential assets located in Canada’s Yukon Territory. NVD is 
managed by its General Partner, Northern Vision Development Corp., a private corporation based in 
Whitehorse and formed under the laws of the Yukon. The operations of the Partnership are overseen by a 
board of directors of the General Partner, comprised of individuals with a diverse mix of skill sets, including 
experience in the real estate and hospitality industries.  
 
At December 31, 2021, there were 30,747,628 limited partnership units outstanding (December 31, 2020 – 
24,885,973) with no options or purchase warrants issued. A total of 114 Unitholders held interest in the 
Partnership on December 31, 2021 (100 - December 31, 2020). The Net Asset Value (“NAV”) was estimated 
at $3.22 per basic and fully diluted unit on December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $2.68 basic and fully 
diluted), based on updates made by management that rely on the methodology and assumptions used in 
the most recent third-party valuations for assets. This represents an 20.1% increase in NAV per unit for the 
past year and an improvement of 11.0% over the $2.90 per unit amount estimated pre-COVID impacts on 
December 31, 2019 ($2.90 per unit). A distribution to Unitholders of $650,000 was declared and paid in 
April 2021 representing 2.6 cents per unit (2020 – $1,500,000 or 5.6 cents per unit).  The distributions for 
the last two years were made, despite the pressures during COVID restrictions, to provide Unitholders with 
funds to meet the tax obligations they may have incurred as a result of their T5013 allocation of income for 
NVD results in 2020 and 2019. The Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRP”) continues to be popular 
with Unitholders, with just under 38% of outstanding units enrolled in the program.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

NAV Per Unit estimated at $3.22 as at December 31, 2021 
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The Normandy Manor assisted living facility is 
taking shape in Whitehorse. This 84-unit facility, 
the first of its kind in Whitehorse, is scheduled to 
open late in 2022. 
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2021 Highlights  
 
Covid related lockdowns continued to impact financial and operating results for NVD in 2021. The first half of the 
year and the last quarter witnessed lower demand for some services. However, the sale of the High Country Inn at 
the end of the year assisted the Partnership in posting record Net Income.  
 

• On the heels of a major unit repurchase in 2020 that reduced outstanding units to 24,885,972 at December 
31, 2020, the Partnership issued equity throughout 2021 for acquisitions, distribution reinvestment and 
through a Private Placement. These activities combined to increase units outstanding to 30,747,628 at year 
end, a 23.6% increase. This represents a 14.9% increase over the units outstanding compared to December 
31, 2019 – immediately preceding COVID impacts. 

• In April 2021 the Partnership distributed $650,000 or 2.6 cents per unit to its Unitholders (2020 - $1.5 
million; 5.6 cents per unit). Unitholders had received taxable income on their T5013 allocations for 2020, 
and the Partnership allocated funds to its Unitholders to meet tax obligations. 

• The Partnership continues to maintain high cash balances, which continued to grow in the first quarter of 
2022 through the sale of several assets. The higher cash balances will support delivery of the Hyatt Place 
and River’s Reach IV development projects in 2022 and 2023.  

• The Coast High Country Inn sale closed in December 2021 on a Promissory Note basis. This Promissory 
Note was paid out in full in the first quarter of 2022, with significant passive interest being earned by NVD. 
The sale of the High Country Inn generated a gain of more than $4.5 million. The Partnership will defer tax 
on this gain by reinvesting the proceeds in the Hyatt Place project in 2022 (Replacement Rule).  

• Overall debt levels were significantly reduced through the payout of over $8.7 million in debentures which 
were issued as part of the Issuer Bid program in 2020.   

• Total Debt to Book Value of Equity declined to 0.71:1 at December 31, 2021 from 1.38:1 a year earlier and 
Total Debt to Market Value of Equity declined to 0.40:1 from 0.59:1 as a result of equity raising and debt 
paydown activities.  

 Gains on sale of property and equipment were $5.2 million for the year (2020 – $203,800). These were 
primarily related to sale of the High Country Inn, but also included sales of the remaining River’s Reach I 
condo owned by the Partnership as well as staff housing and a non-strategic commercial condo asset. 

 Revenues were down 36.5% to $17.3 million from $27.2 million in 2020. Adjusted for revenues from River’s 
Reach sales, revenues were up in 2021 by 11.0% to $17.3 million from $15.6 million in 2020. 

 Gross Profit was up 2.5% to $7.1 million ($6.9 million - 2020) driven by operating performance 
improvements, offset by a significant decline in available Covid-related subsidies. 

 Interest and amortization expenses remained flat year over year ($4.1 million combined in both 2021 and 
2020) while wages were up 62% to $1.6 million. Wages increased due to a major bonus paid in 2021 along 
with a significant investment in senior management ranks, as contrasted to cuts made in 2020 along with 
voluntary reductions in senior management compensation. 

 On December 31, 2021, fixed rate loans represented 57% of NVD’s mortgage portfolio (54% - December 
31, 2020). Weighted average cost of debt (leaving out the issuer bid debenture for comparative purposes) 
was 3.69% at December 31, 2021 (3.80% - December 31, 2020); 

• Income from operations was down 50.1% to $0.66 million versus $1.32 million in 2020, with the decrease 
being related to increased overhead costs and reduced government Covid-subsidies. 

• Net Income more than tripled to $5.93 million in 2021 (2020 - $1.62 million) driven by gains on sales. 

• Available Funds from Operations (“AFFO”) was $112,000 in 2021, a 84.7% decline over the $730,000 
recorded in 2020. 
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Analysis – Returning to a normal operating environment 
 
The graphs provide a clear picture of the current status of the Partnership.  
 
1. Net Income: The gains on sale achieved in the fourth quarter of 2021 and the first quarter of 2022 related to the sale of the 
Coast High Country Inn, the Pizza Hut building and the Yukon Centre Mall are driving up NET INCOME well above historical 
levels. A new high watermark was established in 2021, which is likely to be eclipsed in 2022 with continuing asset sales coupled 
with a return to more normal sustained income levels.  
 
2. Book Value of Assets: The relatively steady climb of book value of assets was interrupted during 2020 as management 
focused on surviving Covid related lockdown impacts. As a result of building-for-unit sales and a Private Placement undertaken 
in 2021, Partnership equity increased materially, and the trend of growing net assets for the Partnership returned. 
 
3. Division Preformance: Covid impacts had the most impact on the Hotel division. Real Estate 2020 margin performance 
continued to improve and caught up to Hotels. In 2021 Real Estate division margins eclipsed Hotel margins for the first time 
since 2009. In 2022 Hotels are expected to climb above Real Estate once again as some real estate assets are sold off, and hotel 
margins return to historical levels. The loss of High Country Inn revenues mean that even as Hotel margins return to normal 
levels on a per property basis, it will be a few years before Hotel margins exceed historical highs – an event that will likely await 
the introduction of the Hyatt Place. In 2021 the combination of Restaurant margins (now seperated from hotels with the 
purchase of Earls), and Management Contract fees meant that Other is now a meaningful component of Division performance.  
 
4. Gross Income Measures: This important indicator of sustained income available for regular distributions declined markedly in 
2020 as Covid related impacts depressed operating performance. The trend line reversed direction into positive territory in 2021 
and a more meaningful level of recovery is expected in 2022.  
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CEO’s Letter to Unitholders 
 
Dear Unitholders: 
 
I hope you are all doing well in these difficult times. As the world responds to health and geopolitical crises, we are 
reminded more than ever how thankful we are for the ongoing support of our dedicated Unitholders. 

I started last year’s letter by saying “I hope this is the last time my letter has a major focus associated with COVID 
lockdown challenges”. Unfortunately, that hope was not realized. While impacts waned in the summer, they were 
still very much in evidence in the first half and then reappeared in the last quarter of the year. The Omicron variant 
forced a retreat by governments in respect to moving away from restrictions. And while annual operational 
performance did improve as contrasted to 2020, grant and subsidy support was reduced which was a main driver 
in NVD posting a lower level of operating income in 2021. The good news: that is not the full story. The sale of the 
Coast High Country Inn, an older asset that was increasingly costly to operate, resulted in a gain for NVD. 
Consequently, we were able to achieve record net income for the year.  

We do not propose to use old asset sales to secure strong Net Income results on a yearly basis, but this same tactic 
will deliver even stronger Net Income in 2022 through sales of our Pizza Hut and Yukon Centre Mall buildings, and 
perhaps other assets, as real estate prices reach historical highs in Whitehorse. Some gains will be returned to our 
Unitholders, however repatriated capital and the balance of the gains will be reinvested in new projects such as 
the Hyatt Place and the River’s Reach IV luxury condo project. The need for a significant follow-on financing to the 
December 2021 Private Placement to complete these projects has now been either substantially reduced or 
eliminated. Over the course of the next few years, we will deliver the Normandy Manor, the Hyatt Place, and the 
River’s Reach IV condominiums, which collectively represent almost $100 million in development projects. The 
high price real estate environment in Whitehorse is allowing us to reshuffle and upgrade our portfolio. We are 
taking full advantage of those circumstances. It is noteworthy, that not long ago our enterprise value of our entire 
portfolio was less than $100 million.  

At the onset of COVID impacts in March 2020, I could not have imagined I would be reporting 
to our Unitholders in our 2021 Annual Report that we had weathered the lockdowns  

extremely well, and we would be emerging with the strongest balance sheet in our history 
along with the deepest and most creative management team we have ever had. 

But that is precisely what I can report.  

 

Changes in the Team 

Let me start by commenting on the changes to our senior management team. In past reports, we have let 
investors know that Michael Hale, as NVD COO, delivered strong performance and provided great leadership 
during the key COVID impacts. We are indebted to him for his efforts and the outcomes he delivered. We had 
hoped he would develop into someone who could take over my role, but that plan was interrupted by an 
opportunity for Michael to become a Deputy Minister of Health in the Yukon Territorial Government – a position 
that carried much personal motivation for Michael. He will be missed, but we have already reset, with other 
members of the senior management team stepping up into more advanced roles. I have been asked if this 
departure impacts my plans. As ever, I am committed to developing a strong succession plan for NVD and will 
provide strong mentorship to our team, in my ongoing role as CEO, and through an even longer period as a 
committed board member. I am tremendously proud of our team, our stakeholders and what NVD stands for and 
we will make sure that it has a strong succession plan in place at both board and management levels as we move 
into the next chapter of our growth.   
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Unfortunately, as Michael departed, we also lost Jerome Casanova, leader of our Real Estate division, who moved 
back to his native France, as well as his entire team, also for personal reasons. This has left a hole, but fortunately 
we have some significant depth. While we seek to replace these team members with strong professional 
replacements, our existing team has stepped up to serve. I have taken on the role of acting Real Estate lead, and 
we are indebted to both Naincy Saini and Adam Gerle, who have retained their existing assignments while jumping 
into Real Estate roles. Their success has been assured by the support of the entire NVD team.  

At the same time the C-suite is as deep as it has ever been. A rising star in our organization is Katja Schmidt, now 
Chief Hospitality Officer for NVD. In 2021 Katja was extremely busy with the acquisition and renovation reset of 
Earls Restaurant in Whitehorse, as well as conceiving and delivering the very successful Belly of the Bison 
restaurant located in the Edgewater Hotel. Her work to expand the Gold Pan Saloon has been extremely well 
received. Katja has accepted a promotion from Restaurant Division leader to become NVD’s Chief Hospitality 
Officer. In this role she oversees our combined hotel and restaurant operations, including new initiatives, upgrades 
and renovations as well as operational performance. She is providing creative leadership for the Hyatt Place Hotel 
project, a 100 room +/- hotel which we will build on our Main Street lands between the Best Western Gold Rush 
Inn and Sixth Avenue. This project is well underway and will become the jewel of our Hotel Division and a major 
impact on the Whitehorse community. Katja has enhanced our creative capabilities and brings a strong 
entrepreneurial and finance background to NVD. She is having an outsized impact and has built a strong team, 
including her hotel and restaurant leads – Wray Morrell and Kyla Guzik. I am not being overly optimistic when I tell 
you that we can expect great things from this group in years to come. 

Fortunately, at the same time we were losing some of our senior team, we added Gary Gazankas to the mix as 
Chief Project Officer. Gary joined us early in 2022 and brings a professionalism and experience set to an area 
where NVD has shown weakness in the past. His arrival comes at an ideal time as he assumes responsibility for 
delivery of the Normandy Manor project, the Hyatt Place and River’s Reach IV, while getting in on the ground floor 
of planning River’s Reach III and our Whistle Bend commercial development. Gary joined us in January and is 
already having a strong impact on process improvement, risk management and other areas critical to development 
success. We are grateful to have Gary on our team.  

The deeper senior team is rounded out by Mark McGarrigle who replaced Philip Fitzgerald as CFO in August of 
2021. Fortunately. we have not lost Philip, who retains a part time role as Senior VP Finance. Mark comes to us via 
the Bell organization and was most recently with Northwestel, after honing his skills with Bell Aliant in Atlantic 
Canada. His focus on developing strong process and a solid accounting team is precisely where we need to be 
headed, and in a half year he has already made a significant impact at NVD. I look forward to partnering with Mark 
as he upgrades NVD’s software environment and builds a strong, committed accounting team that sets a new bar 
for timely and accurate reporting to support our business growth. 

Together with me, the team of Katja, Gary and Mark form a C-Suite that is as strong as we have ever had.  

While Philip is not completely leaving the fold, and his presence is still felt in many ways, I would be remiss not to 
comment on the tremendous service he has provided to NVD over the course of the last decade. Originally on the 
NVD Audit team with BDO, Philip joined a young, small and growing entrepreneurial Partnership. Working closely 
with me over the past decade, he has often been at the centre of the initiatives that have propelled us forward, 
not only reporting on these as our chief accountant, but also helping to make these moves a reality through his 
connections and creativity. Of all the people that NVD has seen come and go over the years, Philip’s departure 
marks the biggest hole we have had to fill, and he is owed a tremendous debt of gratitude by our investors as well 
as our board and staff. We hope to stay close to Philip in the future and he has agreed to continue to help grow the 
NVD dream in his revised role. 

Finally, in relation to our entire staff, the Covid period has been a tremendous strain. We are always quick to 
remark that we realize our success is most dependent or our dedicated staff. Never has that been more in 
evidence than the last two years, when middle management and front-line staff have come through as never 
before and made a tremendous contribution to NVD’s long term success. They are a wonderful group, and we are 
lucky to have all of them committed to the Partnership. The fact that so many of our staff have become 
Unitholders in the Partnership speaks volumes.  



 

 
 

NVDLP Annual Report to Unitholders  
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 

 
 

           PAGE 7  

Key Priorities 

We emerge in 2022 with the strongest balance sheet and cash position we have ever had. While Available Funds 
from Operations (“AFFO”) has been heavily impacted by the lockdowns, we have remained profitable throughout 
the COVID period and have retooled the balance sheet to grow equity and reduce debt. The result is that we are 
poised to invest significantly in the next chapter of NVD’s growth. 

Success in the coming year will be highlighted by several key factors: 

1. A return to strong operating margin performance from hotels and restaurants as lockdowns ease. 

2. Continuing to grow management service contracts in our areas of expertise that boost operating 
performance without requiring investment capital. 

3. Delivery and stand up of Normandy Manor operations such that in 2023 this project provides positive 
contribution to our operating division performance. 

4. Launch of the Midnight Sun, mothballed since renovations were completed due to a lack of 
accommodations demand in Dawson City. 

5. Additional of more mid-Yukon assets that have proven to be profitable and which we are well positioned 
to adopt into our portfolio through JV arrangements with our First Nations partners. 

6. Progress on the Hyatt Place and River’s Reach IV projects such that they can become contributors to our 
success in several years, and so that they enhance NVD’s reputation while being delivered on time and on 
budget in a difficult construction environment. 

7. Replacement of revenues that have disappeared due to the sale of certain Real Estate properties by 
improving the contribution of recently acquired assets and continuing to seek accretive opportunities for 
further acquisitions. 

8. Evolution of our long-term succession plans for management and board. 

9. Beginning to plan follow on development projects such as River’s Reach III and Whistle Bend. 

10. Continuing to focus on an overall suite of activities that builds our ability to pay out annual yield while 
growing NAV per unit for our Unitholders.  

Over the past year there were many highlights. Our Operations review will cover off most of these, but I want to 
share with our Unitholders a few of the things we have accomplished outside of operations. 

Financing Activities  

 There has been a significant amount of movement in our unit holdings over the past few years. The most 
significant was the reduction in almost 4 million units through the November 2020 Issuer Bid and the addition of 
over 5 million units in the 2021 Private placement. 
The chart opposite details that there were many 
minor shifts as well. In step with the Issuer Bid, we 
completed a Private Placement that replaced 
almost 2 million of the retired units. We have also 
entered a number of transactions that assisted in 
the acquisition or sale of assets. The reintroduction 
of the Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRP”) 
also impacted unit balances in 2021. As a result of  
these combined activities, our outstanding units 
now exceed 30 million and are up almost 15% over 
the number outstanding at the end of 2019. 

 

NVD LP Unitholdings December 2019 to December 2021

Partnership Units Outstanding Units Oustanding

Opening Balance December 31, 2019 26,756,921 
Q2 2020 - Building for Units YIDC (escrow release) 19,682          26,776,603 
Q2 2020 - Redeemed for partial consideration RRII condo (100,000)      26,676,603 
Smooth Transition/Restructure units issued - GP 277,732       26,954,335 
Issuer Bid - November 2020 tendered units (3,974,969)  22,979,366 
Private Placement - November 2020 1,906,607    24,885,973 
Distribution Reinvestment - 40.5% of Units - April 2021 103,347       24,989,320 
Earls Acquisition April 2020 - partial consideration 182,301       25,171,621 
Late PP Timed Unit Purchase Closing - April 2021 36,250          25,207,871 
Buildings for Units - 2 building transaction May 2021 337,250       25,545,121 
Private Placement November 2021 5,202,507    30,747,628 

Current Outstanding vs December 2019 114.9%
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The unit activity has resulted in a change to our unitholder 
composition as summarized in the chart opposite. 
Ownership remains highly concentrated in the hands of a 
small number of Unitholders with our top five holding over 
50% of the units outstanding and our top fifteen investors 
holding 80% of the units.  

There were other significant changes in unitholder make 
up: We are now almost 48% owned by Yukon First Nations 
and Yukon-based investors now hold almost 73% of the 
Partnership. Importantly several staff have participated in 

the last two Private Placements, and board and staff ownership now account for over 13% of units outstanding. 
We changed the nature of General Partnership (“GP”) ownership in 2020 and, as a result, over 92% of our unit 
holdings qualify for participation in GP shares if they make an election to do so. 

We increased the number of Unitholders to 114 and of those 91 are unique, as several Unitholders directly control 
units through a variety of entities. While First Nations have increased their overall percentage ownership of NVD, 
that ownership is more diversified. We now count five First Nations in our top ten investors and seven in our top 
fifteen as compared to three in our top fifteen in previous years. We welcome all our new investors, and we will 
work diligently to ensure their trust in us is rewarded.  

With this annual report our investors will receive an election for the Distribution Reinvestment program (“DRP”). 
Currently 37.6% of units are enrolled in the DRP which allows Unitholders to elect a portion, or all, of their 
distribution to be reinvested in units of the Partnership at a 5% discount to prevailing NAV per unit estimates. We 
invite all Unitholders to consider enrolling in this program.  

Debt and Capital Structure 

With a strong cash position, we have elected to pay down debt and in particular, to pay off the entire debenture 
that was outstanding as a result of the 2020 Issuer Bid. The Debenture originally stood at almost $11 million and at 
the beginning of 2021 $8.7 million was outstanding. The debenture was attractive debt as it carried no interest, 
however there were some restrictive triggers associated with this debt. A number of events in 2021, including the 
sale of several River’s Reach II units that had been repurposed as rental units (and therefore resulted in capital 
gains as opposed to development income), and the sale of the Coast High Country Inn, as well as the completion of 
the Private Placement, were trigger events that meant that most of the Debenture would have been due to be 
paid out by February 2022. To maximize flexibility, the entire amount was paid out in December 2021.  

With significant cash balances in place, and the need for that cash extending over the next two-year period, we 
have been challenged to consider treasury management options. We have elected to pay down certain long-term 
debt, especially our most expensive debt, with some of these funds. When we save an interest cost of over 4%, this 
compares favourably to the less than 2% available in GIC options. Accordingly, we have paid down some of our 
debt and will utilize the debt headroom created when we need to access that credit in the future. We have also 
delayed the drawdown of debt facilities that were previously negotiated until such time as the funds are required.  

The result of recent financing and debt reduction is significant. On a market value basis, total debt to equity has 
declined to 0.40:1 from 0.59:1 which is a historically low level for NVD. Enjoying this much debt headroom as we 
move into a potentially extended period of development activity positions the Partnership well for its planned 
expansion. Obviously, we anticipate interest rates to continue to go up. Our debt portfolio is currently skewed to 
fixed rate mortgages, and we will likely continue to intake fixed rate mortgages so long as interest rate spreads 
make that a sensible strategy. We will also look to lock in variable rate loans into fixed rate facilities where it 
makes sense to do so. Our weighted average cost of debt is currently at a historical low of 3.21%, and we will 
attempt to ensure that a low cost of debt continues to be a strategy weapon for the Partnership. 

 

Northern Vision Development LP
Unitholders Summary 31-Dec-21

Units Outstanding 30,747,628   
Yukon Investors 72.8%
First Nation entities 47.9%
Board and Staff Ownership 13.1%
Top Five Investors 52.0%
Top 15 investors (over 80%) 80.0%
Top 26 Investors (90%) 90.3%
GP cut off (top 30 investors) 92.3%
Number of Unitholders 114                 
Unique Unitholders 91                   
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Enterprise Value 

At the writing of this report our enterprise value has reached almost $140 million, and the Net Asset Value of the 
Partnership is almost $100 million. NAV per unit has pushed well above $3 at $3.22 per unit. And our cash position 
and gains from sales will allow us to make a meaningful distribution in April. We will provide news of this 
distribution after our board has considered the subject over the coming weeks. The last two years and the COVID 
related pressures have caused a pause in the growth of our sustained income, our distributions and other facets of 
our business, but we have continued to grow our asset values, and the restructuring of our balance sheet has been 
a major focus which is now complete in a way that supports our comprehensive development agenda.  

So where do we go from here…. 

Just prior to the COVID impacts, your board and management had set out a major plan to geographically diversify 
and grow overall enterprise value to the point where we have more options as a Partnership to attract funding for 
further growth. While we do not specifically have an objective to “go public” or seek major strategic alliances, we 
want to build our size and strength so that we can consider such options. The synergy, efficiency and possibilities 
that are created for the Partnership at a larger overall size are important to ensure maximum returns and liquidity 
options for NVD. With a return to a more normal operating environment, we have once again turned our attention 
to this growth agenda.  

I believe we have the balance sheet, the board and the management depth to fully pursue these options. While 
management is focused on a $100 million development program in Whitehorse in 2022/3, your board is focusing 
on geographic diversification that could lead to major fundraising activities and expansion into new locations if it is 
deemed prudent to do so. We hope to bring you more news on this initiative as it develops.  

For certain, enterprise value will grow as we enter a more advanced development phase as is currently planned. 
Based on current equity levels and our mandate to remain below a 1:1 debt to market value of equity levels, we 
have the debt headroom that would allow us to approach our target of above $200 million enterprise value. As we 
take on construction debt for the projects currently underway the Partnership will close in on this objective.  

Summary 

While it often seems that an organization is on the cusp of bigger and better things, and we have often felt this 
way about NVD, it is my view that this has never been a more truthful observation than it is today.  

The challenges of the past two years have forced us to take a major look at the way we do business. These have led 
to decisions on software tools, approaches and systems that will assist us significantly as we operate as a larger 
organization in the years to come. With a deep senior suite, and a strong balance sheet, coupled with a menu of 
development opportunities that we believe are second to none in Whitehorse, I believe it is reasonable to have a 
heightened expectation of what can be achieved over the next few years.  

Our portfolio will be revamped to include a much greater skew to new built or renovated properties that are easier 
to maintain and more energy efficient. With the addition of an Assisted Living division on the heels of standing up 
the Restaurant division this past year, we will be firmly seated on a four-legged stool of Hotels, Rental Properties, 
Assisted Living and Restaurants, that will give us more diversified exposure to the strong economy that is expected 
in the Yukon.  

Our Unitholder base, always supportive, is as aligned with board and management as it has ever been, and as 
noted in this letter, our management depth and balance sheet are both well poised to support a growth agenda.  

Many experts expect the Yukon Territory to be amongst the leading regions in Canada for GDP growth over the 
next few years, as it has recently been. We share that expectation. Recently the Coffee Creek mine in the Dawson 
area received a go-ahead, and the Victoria Gold mine is now in full operating mode in the Mayo region. Your 
Partnership has built an asset base in both regions and will continue to expand our footprint as practical and 
compelling opportunities are identified. 
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“I believe we are better positioned 
than ever before to combine our 

management and board efforts to create 
great outcomes for NVD investors…” 

 

I always take the opportunity in my letter to Unitholders to thank our board of directors. In the past year we said 
goodbye to Shirley Adamson, who had provided excellent counsel to us over a period of eight years. She is missed 
by all of us. At the same time, we introduced Daryn Leas and Murray Leitch to our board. Both add important 
Yukon perspective to the board, and Daryn augments the First Nation’s connectivity that we lost with Shirley and 
depend on Lori Simcox to provide. Daryn agreed to chair our Governance Committee and Murray took over as 
chair of the Audit Committee. The new members join a dedicated board that is expertly steered by Piers 
McDonald, the long serving Chair of NVD’s Board. Ian McAuley continues to provide critical guidance as our Hotel 
Chair and Hannes Kovac provides extremely valuable insight into our development initiatives. Our board had to 
engage with us virtually for most of the COVID impact period, so we were pleased to convene in person at a board 
retreat held in Dawson City in September 2021, where our board members were able to test out the quality of the 
new Midnight Sun offering.  

And finally, and again as always, I want to thank our Unitholders. I cannot imagine a more engaged group, and I 
would be remiss not to remark on the steady stream of encouragement and good ideas we received from our 
stakeholders. Many of our Unitholders demonstrate their enduring commitment to NVD with participation in the 
DRP as well as multiple Private Placements. Many more reach out with ideas, input, and counsel on opportunities. 
We are delighted to have the investors that we have, and we will continue to dedicate ourselves to building the 
strongest possible reputation for NVD, while advancing the size of our distributions and continuing to growth the 
asset value of the Partnership. You can be very proud of the way the board and management have weathered the 
recent difficult times, and we look forward to reporting to you again in our Semi-Annual Report to Unitholders in 
August 2022. In the meantime, we hope to see many of you at our upcoming AGM and Development Projects 
launch. Thank you for your support.  

 

Sincerely, 
 

Northern Vision Development LP 
 

 
 
Richard S. Thompson 
Co-founder, Director, and Chief Executive Officer 
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Letter from the Chairman of the Board 
 
Dear Unitholders: 
 
The year 2021 presented challenges for people everywhere and Northern Vision Development was no exception. 
With each surge of the pandemic our senior management team and staff acted to limit its negative impacts and 
identify new opportunities to strengthen our balance sheet and prepare for an end to lockdowns and return to a 
healthier operating environment. While elements of our business were particularly affected by a decline in 
travellers and those patronizing our restaurants other elements of our business, particularly in real estate, proved   
more resilient. At the close of the year, we started to see our business begin, once again, to fire on all cylinders. 
We find ourselves remarkably well positioned to undertake projects that promise to provide significant dividends 
in the years to come. 
 

NVD staff and management team proved again and again that the faith in their reputation for competent 
management and entrepreneurial spirit was well placed. While we did experience some change in the team at year 
end, we used the opportunity to build our capacity where it was most needed and ensure that succession was as 
smooth as possible. Our ability to identify and seize opportunities as they arise; create the conditions for new 
business prospects; all the while maintaining our focus on long term strategic objectives has been the secret to 
much of our success. 
 

The Board of Directors has been as attentive as ever to the challenges the company faces. We did, reluctantly, see 
the departure of Shirley Adamson who provided the wisdom of a well seasoned leader in Yukon. Her regular and 
thoughtful advice will be missed. In our efforts to bring new and important perspectives to board decision making 
we added Daryn Leas and Murray Leitch. Both gentlemen are well known to most investors and have well earned 
reputations for wise counsel. Rich Thompson formally re-joined the board to encourage stronger than ever 
communication between the board and the senior management team. While we expect that some board members 
will retire or move on to other things from time to time, we always invest considerable effort to making the board 
stronger than ever.  
 

Our board includes Ian McAuley, Hannes Kovac, Daryn Leas, Lori Simcox, Murray Leitch and Rich Thompson. Some 
are long time board members and some offer new and fresh perspectives. All have a deep understanding of our 
business and the Yukon itself. 
 

I would like to thank all our employees for their resilience and the hard work they have invested in our company. 
In particular Rich Thompson who has led the company through all manner of challenges and who has cultivated a 
strong management team is most deserving of our appreciation. The last year, in particular, has been no cake walk 
and the fact that the company continues to be an industry leader in the north with excellent prospects says a lot. 
 

Finally I would like to thank our investors who have not only had faith in our board and management team but 
who have also brought opportunities to the table and provided advice that is most critical to our success. It has 
been a pleasure working with you to build a company that has had such a profound impact on the Yukon and 
northern economies. 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
 

Northern Vision Limited Partnership 
 
 
 
 

Piers McDonald,  
Chairman 
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Report on Operations 
 
 
Operations are becoming more diverse for NVD, so this report has been expanded. A report is provided on each of 
the Divisions as well as on development activities.  

I. Hotel Division 

Major Changes 
 

The big news in the Hotel Division in 2021 was the sale of the Coast High Country Inn in December 2021, and the 
formal commencement of work on the Hyatt Place in Whitehorse as a replacement. The High Country Inn was sold 
to Safe at Home Yukon through the Federal Government’s Rapid Housing Initiative at a price close to its NAV 
carrying value in 2019, pre COVID. NVD had removed the High Country Inn from service in response to pandemic-
related impacts, leasing it to the Yukon Government as a community health care facility. This reduced overall hotel 
room capacity during COVID lockdowns. The sale produced a meaningful gain for NVD and allowed the Partnership 
to finally move on developing its Main Street lands into a Hyatt Place. This essentially allows the company to 

replace 82 older vintage hotel rooms, with 100 +/- new built rooms of higher quality 
in a better location.  

The sale precipitated other changes. NVD enjoyed its relationship with Coast Hotels, 
and the decommissioning of the High Country Inn created the opportunity to 
migrate the Coast brand to the Downtown Hotel in Dawson. On April 4, 2022 the 

newly branded “Downtown, a Coast Hotel” will move on from its past association with Sonesta (Red Lion), a little 
more than a month before the formal grand opening of the Midnight Sun Hotel in Dawson.  The newly renovated 
Midnight Sun has been utilized only as an overflow property in the past year due to the lack of demand for 
accommodation product in Dawson during COVID.  

Emerging from the Pandemic 

2021 was a year of mixed results. The first half of the year was impacted by lockdowns and border closures which 
kept Yukon tourism levels muted. At the same time, Covid supports began to diminish. The Canadian Emergency 
Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) saw a steady decline throughout the year until it disappeared entirely in October. 
Similarly, the helpful programs from the Yukon Territorial Government were cut back or eliminated. 

By the summer, Hotel Division revenues were beginning to return to normal. July and August delivered much 
stronger room revenue performance, and by the end of the third quarter the Best Western Gold Rush Inn delivered 
its best ever September room revenue. It appeared that Covid impacts were behind the Partnership as the 
Restaurants Division also began to produce robust 
numbers with clients returning and restrictions lifted. 

While the Omicron variant brought renewed restrictions 
for Yukon restaurants in November, the borders were 
not closed. Consequently, the Hotel Division continued 
to perform. Aided by the removal of the Coast High 
Country Inn from the market and a major renovation to 
the 183-room Sternwheeler Hotel which impacted room 
availability at that property, a partial demand recovery 
meant a return to strong occupancy and ADR levels for 
the hotels still fully operating (see chart).  

As the chart indicates, all NVD hotels performed well 
above the national average for much of the year on the 
most important indicator of hotel performance – 
Revenue per Available Room or RevPAR – except for the Downtown Hotel in Dawson. But even this seasonal 
property, operating in the Yukon region most hard hit by border closures and other lockdowns, outperformed the 
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national average in the summer season. The Bedrock Hotel delivered solid performance vs the national average for 
much of the year but dropped down below the average when it was seasonally shut down.  

NVD hotels have usually outperformed national RevPAR averages prior to the pandemic, and this trend continued 
throughout both 2020 during the initial COVID lockdowns and 2021 as the impacts continued to be felt. 
Performance above national norms is expected to continue in 2022. From September 2021 to March 2022, the 
rooms revenue for the Gold Rush Inn has been the best-ever for that property for the specific month, and 
Edgewater Hotel achieved the same from October to December 2021 and again in March 2022. The permanent 
closure of the High Country Inn and the return of reasonable levels of accommodation demand are assisting in 
driving up both Average Daily Rates (ADR) and occupancy levels at NVD’s Whitehorse hotels, a circumstance that is 
likely to continue until the delivery of the Hyatt Place Hotel in 2024.  

Strong Leadership and Expansion 

As previously mentioned, Katja Schmidt now leads the Hotel Division as Chief Hospitality Officer. Her focus is on 
improving guest experience at existing hotels and building division footprint. In 2022 she will oversee significant 
upgrades to the Edgewater Hotel rooms, continuing the Property Improvement Program (“PIP”) at the Best 
Western Gold Rush Inn, and supercharging the performance of the Dawson Downtown Limited Partnership assets 
(the Downtown Hotel and Annex, the Midnight Sun and the Caley building), which are co-owned with NVD’s largest 
investor, the Tr'ondëk Hwëch'in Trust. She will also provide creative direction for the new Hyatt Place. 

The Bedrock Motel in Mayo performed admirably during 2021. Owned in partnership with Na-Cho Nyak Dun 
Development Corporation and managed by NVD, this property delivered solid returns in 2021. Consequently, the 
Bedrock Hotel Limited Partnership, which is 49% owned by NVD, may expand operations in this community. An 
offer has been made on a complimentary property, and if successful, Unitholders will be provided with an update 
at the Annual General meeting. The Mayo region benefits from the activity levels at Victoria Gold’s Eagle Mine and 
from other activities in the area. NVD is experiencing strong financial returns from the Bedrock Hotel which leads  
to the desire to expand hotel footprint in this community.  

Given the success generating returns from hotels in smaller Yukon communities (including the pre-COVID success 
with the Downtown Hotel), NVD is looking at other opportunities to partner with First Nation Development 
Corporations on hotel-based joint ventures. The Partnership currently has another offer out in a different Yukon 
community, in partnership with the Development Corp of one of its First Nations Trust investors, and Unitholders 
will be updated if this arrangment moves ahead.  

The Partnership slowed down CAPEX investment in hotels in recent years. Although significant vacancy at times 
during the Covid impacts would have made it easy to undertake renovations, the uncertainty around the timing of 
a return to normal operations led to a cautious approach. With the hotels returning to normal operating levels, 
management is now planning renovations at times when occupancy is at its lowest, but such opportunities are 
hard to identify. Still, it will be important to ensure the hotels continue to compete well as competitive properties 
undergo renovations of their own. The new Raven Hotel, although smaller, introduced new built room inventory 
into Whitehorse for the first time in decades, and as noted earlier the largest hotel in Whitehorse, the 
Sternwheeler, is undergoing renovations. With new built Hyatt Place product not far off, it will be important for 
the existing NVD Hotel Division products to be highly competitive, and management will ensure this is the case.  

Staff Make the Difference 

A critical component of hotel performance is the quality of the staff. Katja has promoted Wray Morrel, previously 
the General Manager of the Edgewater Hotel, to become the Director of Hotels. Together Katja and Wray plan to 
significantly improve the overall quality of guest service in Whitehorse which is already rated  the best in the 
Territory. In 2020 both the Edgewater Hotel and the Coast High Country Inn received recognition from Trip Advisor 
which reated them in the top 10% of hotels worldwide for reported guest satisfaction levels. Recently the Best 
Western Gold Rush Inn received its best inspection score. The Best Western Gold Rush Inn has benefited from the 
strong leadership of general manager Danielle Pfeifer who has provided a steady hand on the rudder at that 
property, and Scemoore Williams has stepped in to replace Wray at the Edgewater.  
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Outlook for the Hotel Division 

Looking forward, the biggest news is the development of the Hyatt Place on the Partnership’s Main Street lands 
adjacent to the Gold Rush Inn. This 100 +/- room property is planned as a five-storey project complete with roof 
top restaurant, outdoor patio, spa, and fitness centre. It will be a show piece property within the Hotel Division 
and offer the top end of accommodations available in the Yukon. The franchise agreement has been signed with 
Hyatt and the project design is nearing completion. NVD anticipates breaking ground on the project in May 2022 
and opening the hotel in summer 2024. 

Once complete, and with the formal launch of the Midnight Sun, the NVD hotel portfolio room count will exceed 
historical levels. With the potential acquisition of several smaller central Yukon hotel properties, the room count 
should push above 360. The Partnership is eyeing geographic expansion and hotels will likely play a prominent role 
as NVD moves to establish a presence in other markets. 

Having dropped below the Real Estate division in terms of total margin contribution in 2021, the Hotel Division is 
expected to move into top spot once again in 2022 as margin performs exceeds historical levels on a per property 
basis. After being impacted in a major way by border closures and lockdowns, NVD is looking forward to an exciting 
new chapter in 2022 and beyond. Both Whitehorse hotels benefit from enhanced food and beverage outlets in 
place – the Belly of the Bison at the Edgewater launched in August 2021 and the Gold Pan Saloon expanded to 
include the games room several months earlier. The Midnight Sun launch in Dawson will benefit the adjacent 
Downtown Hotel, and when demand fully returns in that region, NVD will stand up exciting new Food and 
Beverage offerings at the “Sun”. For a short period, the Hotel Division will underperform historical high-water 
marks due to the loss of High Country Inn revenues and margins, but NVD expects division record performance as 
early as 2023, possibly before the launch of the Hyatt Place.  

II. Restaurant Division 
 

After years of operating two divisions, NVD introduced a third in 2021 and it is already making a major impact. 
With restrictions being lifted it is anticipated that the new Restaurant Division will expand both top- and bottom-
line performance in 2022. 

Led by Chief Hospitality Officer Katja Schmidt and Director of Food and Beverage Kyla Guzik, this group had a very 
busy year. In April, Earls Restaurants Whitehorse Ltd was acquired in a cash and units transaction. The restaurant 
was closed and renovated over a two-week period and 
reopened for the last third of April. As the chart 
opposite shows, the renovated restaurant 
immediately performed at levels above the previous 
three years (the COVID period in 2020 is in evidence in 
this chart) and then dipped down when the Yukon 
finally experienced a major third wave of the 
Pandemic in June. For the summer and fall, revenues 
were well ahead of previous years, however the 
Omicron lockdowns in November and December once 
again impaired performance. Still, revenue remained 
at or above 2020 levels and has since recovered back 
to “overperforming” previous years in March 2022 as 
restrictions have once again been lifted. 

Earls Restaurants Whitehorse Ltd was renamed NVD Restaurants Ltd. and the assets of both the Belly of the Bison 
and Gold Pan Saloon have been moved into this new NVD operating division, joining Earls. The Belly of the Bison 
was launched in August to rave reviews and has outperformed financial expectations for most of the period 
(except during Omicron related lockdowns) despite staffing challenges that have had an impact on all of NVD’s 
restaurants and hotels. Ms. Schmidt also oversaw an expansion of the Gold Pan Saloon with the introduction of a 
games room to connect the bar with the outdoor patio that had been introduced in 2020 to expand seating 
capacity in response to the social distance spacing requirements. 
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The Belly of the Bison, under the direction of head chef Jeremy Kujansuu, has been featured in What’s Up Yukon 
and brings a urban centre gourmet experience to both Whitehorse and the hotel – benefiting local consumers and 
hotel guests alike and adding to the attractiveness of the Edgewater Hotel. A Front Street patio with Yukon River 
views will expand seating in summer 2022, and extended hours coming out of lockdown restrictions will further 
enhance the performance of this very successful new restaurant offering.  

The challenge is to grow the Restaurant Division so that it rivals the other divisions in terms of margin contribution. 
Restaurants can be less capital intensive than hotels and commercial properties relative to the amount of income 
they generate, and as such they have the potential to improve the return profile of the Partnership at a lower level 
of investment. The Restaurant Division is poised to become a reputational leader in the Yukon, just like other NVD 
divisions. Due to the leadership and assets in place, we are already seeing this outcome. There is also the potential 
to enhance success in Dawson, with improvements to the Downtown Hotel food and beverage outlets. In 
particular, the relaunch of the historically popular outlets in the 
Midnight Sun provide the Restaurant Division with plenty of 
running room to “strut its stuff”. 

The growing role of Restaurant Division revenues is in evidence in 
the charts opposite. In 2020, excluding Development Income 
associated with sales of River’s Reach II condominiums, hotels 
played a major role in operating division revenue. In 2021, as 
restaurant revenues were separated out, real estate revenues grew 
and other revenues expanded in step with the introduction of new 
management contracts, hotels played less of a role. Restaurant 
revenues grew with the addition of Earls, the creation of the Belly 
of the Bison, and the expansion of the Gold Pan Saloon. As NVD 
moves forward, with a focus on strong bottom-line performance 
from the Restaurant Division, it is expected that operating 
revenues and margins will benefit greatly. At the end of 2022 the 
launch of Normandy will create a fourth division, Assisted Living, 
which should also be accretive at both the top- and bottom-line. 

At left, the Belly of the Bison launched in August and has 
been a major hit with diners in Whitehorse. Above, 
renovations at Earls restaurant opened up the lounge and 
restaurant areas and combined with rejuvenated leadership 
have led to strong sales.  
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III. Real Estate Division   
 

Once again, the real estate division set a record for financial performance during the year. The chart below 
indicates the growth over the past two-year period, with the division now operating very close to nil vacancy.  

NVD LP Portfolio Summary

2021 vs 2020 and 2019 2021 2020
2021 

Change 2019
2020 

Change
2021 

Portfolio %
2021 

Cumm %

NVD Place 818,900       755,749       63,151 750,928      4,821 20.9%

Yukon Centre Mal l 800,731       793,707       7,024 758,140      35,567 20.5% 41.4%

Waterfront Station 761,571       727,538       34,033 508,985      218,553 19.5% 60.9%

River's  Reach I and II 362,028       264,423       97,605 35,501        228,922 9.3% 70.1%

2251 2nd/49 Waterfront* 295,309       -               295,309 -              -                7.5% 77.7%

Main Steele 270,989       245,784       25,205 231,740      14,044 6.9% 84.6%

Taga Shro Station 162,694       191,183       (28,489) 194,832      (3,649) 4.2% 88.7%

Pizza Hut 159,399       112,860       46,540 116,428      (3,568) 4.1% 92.8%

Nugget Beach 89,439         89,520         (81) 89,846        (326) 2.3% 95.1%

TW 166 JV (49%) 79,645         81,644         (2,000) 81,859        (214) 2.0% 97.1%

Alpine View Apartments** 51,884         -               51,884 -              0 1.3% 98.5%

Platinum Rd JV (50%)** 24,666         -               24,666 -              -                0.6% 99.1%

Trade Centre 104 18,789         17,257         1,531 11,743        5,515 0.5% 99.6%

Carcross  JV (50%) 17,003         22,938         (5,935) 19,336        3,603 0.4% 100.0%

Staff housing (1,884)         4,930           (6,814) 14,471        (9,541) 0.0% 100.0%

Other  (Many Rivers  in 2019) 1,584           4,930           (3,346) 93,386        (88,455) 0.0% 100.0%

Tota l 3,912,746    3,312,464    600,282 2,907,193   405,271

YoY Growth 18.1% 13.9%

Notes: * Seven months in 2021 ** Four months in 2021  

The chart indicates that in 2021, NVD Place became the largest portfolio contributor based on net revenue. With 
vacancies filled throughout 2021, this property will push up toward $1 million in contribution in 2022. Waterfront 
Station has increased its contribution over the past several years, and NVD purchased condos in the property and 
improved rents. With the retention of 17 River’s Reach II condo units, that property has become a meaningful 
participant for the division in the last two years, particularly in 2021 when full rents were earned. This growth was 
achieved despite the fact that the Partnership’s remaining units in River’s Reach I have all been sold. A strong 
rental market is putting upward pressure on all residential and commercial properties.  

Several of the properties including 2251 Second Avenue and 49 Waterfront Place (sevenmonths) and Platinum 
Road and Alpine View Apartments (four months each) were only in the portfolio for a portion of 2021. Taga Shro 
Station encountered a vacancy for part of the year before it was refilled, and the balance of the portfolio 
performed in step with previous years. 

One can see from the chart above that recent growth has been strong. An increase from 2019 to 2020 improved 
net revenues by 13.9% followed by an 18.1% increase to $3.9 million in 2021. This represents over $1 million 
growth in portfolio margin performance in two years - a 34.6% improvement. The Real Estate Market has been 
strong recently, with rents increasing, land prices up significantly, and Capitalization rates compressing while 
construction prices restrict new product form coming into the market at a quick pace.  

Division Activity 

Against this backdrop, the Partnership has been presented with an increasing number of opportunities to both buy 
and sell properties. Before the market began to move in a significant manner in the latter half of 2021, NVD moved 
to acquire the 49 Waterfront Place and 2251 Second Avenue properties that augment its asset position in the 
Waterfront Place area. These properties were fully leased to the government when purchased and had been 
converted from retail to office space usage in recent years. Both are strategically located from an NVD perspective 
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as they are located at an access point to NVD’s significant Waterfront Place land holdings. They were purchased at 
above an 8% CAP rate before market pricing began to move, using cash and units. This acquisition allowed NVD to 
use a small amount of available cash on hand to acquire a meaningful portfolio contributor. The transaction was 
completed in May 2021. 

In September NVD added two other properties to its portfolio. NVD enjoys a solid commercial property portfolio, 
but has been under-represented on industrial holdings, other than commercial/industrial holdings in the Titanium 
Way Business Park. The 100 Platinum Road property was an ideal way to establish more of a foothold in the 
industrial area, particularly as mining activities continue to pick up in the Yukon. Purchased in a Joint Venture with 
Ketza Construction – a partner in the Normandy Manor Assisted living project and a construction supplier to NVD – 
this project was purchased at a CAP rate above 8% and delivers substantial upside potential. Formerly a freight 
terminal, this project offers a variety of rental types that are not available anywhere in NVD’s existing portfolio. 
The Partnership will turn its attention to improving this asset, perhaps as early as this coming year, and will keep 
an eye out for other accretive acquisitions in the industrial area in future. 

Alpine View Apartments was the other property added in September. This 23-unit apartment building is located on 
a generous sized lot overlooking the Yukon River at the south end of downtown Whitehorse. While NVD purchased 
this property at a 6.5% Cap rate – making it more expensive than the Partnership’s normal purchases – the land is 
not fully utilized, and it provides immediate potential for much needed staff housing opportunities. NVD’s 
Restaurant and Hotels Division has struggled with attracting staff to the Yukon with available housing being a 
substantial issue. Management viewed this as a strategic purchase – offering a partial solution to a significant 
housing problem for NVD in the short term and representing a fabulous redevelopment project with ample land in 
a spectacular location over the longer term. 

Soon after making these acquisitions, the market began to heat up and it became more difficult to identify solid 
acquisition opportunities to make use of NVD’s strong cash position. As prices moved up, management considered 
selling assets to crystalize some significant value creation. Offers were accepted for the Yukon Centre Mall and 
Pizza Hut. Both buildings have been in the portfolio for a long time and in both cases NVD had substantially 
improved the value of the buildings. Ove the years, Pizza Hut was repurposed into a three-tenant property from 
single tenancy, generating significantly higher rents. Yukon Centre Mall benefited from almost fifteen years of 
effort that involved re-tenanting that boosted property value. The Partnership converted the old SuperValu space 
into the Northlight Innovation Centre and a comprehensive overall property upgrade was completed in 2019. Both 
properties have seen their values steadily climb from time of acquisition until their sale in the first quarter of 2022 
with both properties being sold for Cap rates well below 7.5%. Consequently, significant gains and depreciation 
recapture have been realized on these properties and the proceeds can be earmarked for investor distribution as 
well as to support the Partnership’s overall development program. The sales crystalized values that were either at 
(in the case of Pizza Hut) or above (in the case of Yukon Centre Mall) the carrying value of these properties in the 
regular estimates provided for NAV to NVD’s Unitholders.  

At year end, NVD lost its entire Real Estate team. Jerome Casanova, President of the Real Estate Division, returned 
home to France and he is definitely missed. The other members of his team left the organization for personal 
reasons, and the Partnership was left with a significant hole at the same time it lost its Chief Operating Officer. 
Fortunately, there has been significant investment in management depth over the past few years and moves were 
made to support the division while potential replacement candidates were considered. Rich Thompson, CEO of the 
Partnership, who has previously managed all aspects of the operation, stepped in as acting Real Estate Division 
Leader, and Adam Gerle, long time NVD VP Marketing took over leasing and sales. Office Administrator Naincy 
Saini stepped in to handle the administrative side of Real Estate operations. These individuals have had a major 
impact on completing renewals at improved rates while making other improvements to division performance. It is 
anticipated that not all three previous positions will be replaced, given a reduced need for leasing activity due to 
low vacancy levels and due to introduction of enhanced systems for management of the division.  
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IV. Normandy Manor Assisted Living 

As the Normandy Manor project takes full shape – with substantial completion scheduled for October 2022 and 
occupancy for the first residents taking place in the final quarter of the year – NVD looks forward to adding an 
important new operating division. Comprising 84 assisted living rooms, this project (pictured here) will the first of 
its kind in Whitehorse and will allow Whitehorse 
residents to remain in their community when they are 
no longer able to live in their own homes. NVD owns 
one third of the Normandy Manor (officially KBC 
Developments) in partnership with Ketza Group and 
Borud Enterprises. Ketza Construction is the general 
contractor on the project and David Borud owned the 
original lands and is responsible for the original project 
vision. NVD is manager of the project and is currently 
responsible for marketing and sales as well as standing 
up operational readiness. Gary Gazankas, Chief Project 
Officer for NVD is responsible for ensuring the delivery 
of the project, and Natal Samuelson is responsible for 
marketing and sales, as well as for operations once the 
project is in operation. Natal was previously a General 
Manager within the NVD Hotel Division as well as head 
of Banquet Services. As such, she brings substantial experience to the Normandy initiative. During the construction 
phase of the project Natal has been studying best practices for Assisted Living facilities across the country to 
ensure maximum project success.  

At the writing of this report, more than 60% of the building is complete and work is continuing at a rapid pace in 
respect to finishing all five floors. Informal marketing has been underway for some time, but in the first quarter of 
2022 the formal program launched, and Normandy has begun to accept deposits and reservations. It is early days, 
and success will rest on steady progress in marketing and sales of all the room inventory, but sales are currently 
running ahead of target for reservations with deposits, and interest in Normandy Manor is strong.  

Of the 84 units in the project, KBC has agreed to a favourable funding arrangement with Canadian Mortgage and 
Housing Corp (“CMHC”) with a commitment to make 26 of the rental units available on an affordable pricing basis. 
These are already either fully or conditionally spoken for. The Yukon Housing Corporation and the Yukon Territorial 
Government have provided important support that has allowed this project to become a reality and all signals are 
positive for this project at this stage of its development.  

V. Development 

Hyatt Place Hotel, Whitehorse 

With the sale of the High Country Inn, the conditions were right for the long-awaited commencement of a new 
hotel project on NVD’s lands between the Best Western Gold Rush Inn and Sixth Avenue on Main Street. In the 
final quarter of 2021, a deal was signed and announced with Hyatt that would pave the way for the development 
of a four-star Hyatt Place property.  The hotel will fill a big gap in the Whitehorse accommodations industry. Some 
of the proceeds from the High Country Inn sale, along with money raised in a December 2021 Private Placement 
coupled with equity to be arranged with one of NVD’s preferred lenders will provide project financing. Lola 
Architects in Calgary was selected to work with NVD and the Hyatt team for the design of a full service hotel, and a 
Joint Venture between Ellis Don and Ketza has been selected as the primary contractor. 

The design work is largely complete, as are the required engineering studies. Final estimates are being completed 
and it is anticipated that construction will commence as early as May 2022 with targeted completion date in 
summer 2024. 
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The hotel, as currently contemplated, will provide 102 guest rooms as well as a roof top dinging and patio 
experience, rooftop fitness and spa amenities, outdoor rooftop hot tubs, banquet facilities, a main floor breakfast 
and wine bar, commercial retail units and 
underground and surface parking.  

Guests of the  Best Western Gold Rush Inn 
will share parking facilities with the Hyatt 
Place and the retail stores will be part of a 
corridor connecting the properties.  

The project promises to be a game changer 
for the accommodation industry in 
Whitehorse. At the same time this project is 
being constructed, NVD will work with other 
industry stakeholders and governments to 
encourage the development of a Convention 
Centre facility which would take full 
advantage of the increased available hotel room capacity, particularly in the shoulder seasons. The room quality 
and amenity mix at the Hyatt Place will round out the NVD hotel portfolio in Whitehorse and, along with some 
likely mid-Yukon hotel acquisitions, this hotel will push the NVD’s portfolio to new room count highs. 

Having built a strong professional management team, and achieved success with NVD’s hotel assets even in times 
as difficult as the recent Pandemic, NVD is confident that an expanded hotel footprint, with the addition of new 
built product, acquisitions in mid Yukon markets, and potentially diversification into markets outside the Yukon, 
will serve investors well and boost the sustained income levels required to drive a meaningful increase in annual 
payout to investors.   

Rivers Reach IV – A new high standard for Whitehorse Condo living 

The River’s Reach II project was completed just before the Pandemic. NVD has been rewarded handsomely by 
retaining 17 of the 44 total units in that complex for its rental portfolio. Prices have risen on residential product by 
15% to 25% since the delivery of that luxury condominium, and demand is strong in Whitehorse for more luxury 
product. The last waterfront lot in NVD’s original Waterfront Place development lands will become the site for 
NVD’s signature residential Real Estate project. The working name is River’s Reach IV, as the site earmarked for 
River’s Reach III is logically the last location to be slated for 
development of the area’s residential condo buildings, 
however it will likely be renamed when the marketing 
program is launched in late April 2022.  

Project completion is planned for the third quarter of 2024. It 
will include 29 well appointed, spacious condominiums. A 
significant waiting list is established for these residences. Lola 
Architects are in mid-design (see rendering opposite) and the 
JV of Ellis Don and Ketza Construction has been engaged to 
complete the construction of this project. It is anticipated that 
having the same team on both the River’s Reach IV and Hyatt 
projects will bring operational synergy for those travelling to 
Whitehorse to support these two projects.   

The Hyatt Place and River’s Reach IV projects will not impact NVD financial performance until 2024, however both 
will occupy a considerable amount of management attention commencing in 2022 and will have meaningful 
impact on revenue and income when they are completed.  

As these projects overlap with Normandy completion, so too will they with the commencement of the Whistle 
Bend project, River’s Reach III and Lot 10 at Waterfront Place, all of which will receive planning attention in 2022.  

River’s Reach IV will stand beside River’s Reach II 
overlooking the Yukon River and a beautiful  

mountain backdrop. 
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VI. Economic Commentary 

The Yukon Territorial Government published its fiscal and economic outlook in early March 2022. It provides 
observations that allow a description of expectations for the Yukon economy. 

The report indicated that recent GDP growth was better than expected at 5.2% in 2020 which was the highest in 
the country. This was one of the factors that assisted NVD during the Covid impacted period, along with the federal 
wage programs put in place and the Yukon Territorial Government support programs, which in some cases were 
nation leading. In the past we have pointed out that the Territorial Government did a good job in responding 
rapidly to Covid impacts on business and designing programs that delivered real assistance to hard hit business. 
While NVD has not done nearly as well during the past two years as it has previously, there is no question that 
Federal and Territorial support programs and the general economic circumstances in Yukon were helpful in 
allowing the Partnership to maintain a stronger balance sheet than it might have expected during these two very 
difficult years. 

Looking forward, the news in the Fiscal and Economic Outlook is good. GDP is expected to grow a robust 9.6% in 
2022 followed by a further 2.4% in 2023. Annual growth in mineral production is the key driver for this growth and 
although all of that economic benefit does not stick in the Yukon, it does have a major impact on economic 
opportunity. 

Employment of 23,800 measured in December 2021 is the highest monthly figure reported since the beginning of 
the pandemic and was 1,000 higher than December 2019. There is no question that hiring qualified staff is one of 
the biggest challenges faced by NVD, 
and that is likely to continue for at least 
the foreseeable future. Unemployment 
levels in the Yukon have returned to 
pre-pandemic levels.  

The chart opposite highlights the impact 
on the accommodation industry which 
has the biggest impact on NVD 
employment. Deep staff cuts in the early 
part of the pandemic (Feb to May 2020) 
were almost fully made up with gains 
from May 2020 through November 
2021. The growth noted in public administration is a concern for the Partnership as NVD has lost employees to the 
government. NVD is working with the Yukon Chamber of Commerce and others to try to mute the impacts of 
government recruiting from the private sector due to the negative impacts of this practice. 

Population growth continues in 
the Yukon and is in part 
responsible for the upward 
pressure that has existed in 
respect to housing prices. In 
2021 the population was 
43,118 which was a 2.2% 
annual increase. International 
immigration was a major factor 
and was at a level that was the 
second highest in the last 20-
ear period. While 
interprovincial migration was 

the highest it has been in quite some time in 2020, this dropped back to average levels in 2021. 
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Like the rest of Canada, strong inflation pressures were in evidence in 2021 as indicated in the following chart: 

 

The drivers were transportation and shelter costs and NVD has certainly both witnessed and benefited from the 
upward movement in shelter costs in its Real Estate Division, while being very negatively impacted by this in its 
Hotel and Restaurant Divisions. Food prices are also up and along with labour increases are driving up prices in our 
Restaurant and Hotel Divisions. 

A measure that NVD will have to keep an eye on is the comparison of estimated housing need as contrasted to 
new unit building permits. In recent years the number of permits issued have exceeded demand after a period of 
the opposite being the case. While there is still a need for increased housing inventory, the graph below would 
suggest that this may change. Fortunately the audience that NVD is addressing with its River’s Reach product is not 
being well served and there is a lack of competition for these buyers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commodity prices continue to support the Yukon mining industry and the Coffee Creek Mine located near Dawson 
was recently approved. This approval bodes well for NVDs prospects in that market just as we are seeing a growing 
tourism demand profile that will allow the Partnership to launch its Midnight Sun project – used only on an 
overflow basis in 2021 after being readied for launch in 2020 just as the pandemic hit. Earlier this month, gold and 
silver prices were both well above pre pandemic levels being up 23 and 33 percent respectively and copper is up 
60% since early 2020.  
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The expectations for mining activity are illustrated clearly in the following graph which shows that growth 
commenced in 2020 and is expected to be very strong for the next five-year period. 

 

Summary 

Tourism picked up in the summer of 2021 as discussed earlier in this report and even with the impact of Omicron 
in the last quarter or 2021 and the first quarter of 2022, borders remained open to domestic traffic and the 
international restrictions are now beginning to ease. This is good news for NVD’s hotel product. 

With tourism demand returning, mining activity rising to new levels, mobility restrictions eased and a strong pent 
up demand for everything from dining out to domestic and even international travel, NVD anticipates some fairly 
strong economic tail winds for the next several years. The GDP growth projections are encouraging as are most of 
the economic stats that point to the Yukon being a good place to do business in Canada for the foreseeable future.  

The Partnership is expanding the scope of its operations and investing in new building product at a time when 
demand can be expected to remain strong, and it is expected that the expansion of its Hotel and Restaurant 
Divisions will be well supported in 2022 and beyond. The timing is good for the launch of the new Assisted Living 
initiative and with a strong Balance Sheet, NVD investors have good reason to expect favourable outcomes for the 
next several years.  
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A YEAR OF SIGNIFICANT ACTIVITY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Clockwise from upper left: The new games room at 
the Gold Pan Saloon provides a diversion for 
customers; The Edgewater gets a new sign; Earls gets 
a new look; and the Edgewater lobby catches up to the 
new image created by the Belly of the Bison.  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Financial Results  

The financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership, which are audited by Deloitte LLP 
as at and for the period ended December 31, 2021, are included with this annual report. This summary should be 
read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto.  

Disclaimer Regarding Forward-looking Information 

The Partnership’s annual report, including this Management Discussion and Analysis, contains forward-looking 
statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently risky as they are based on assumptions made by 
management based on the best available information at the time and dependent on external factors. The 
possibility exists that actual results could differ materially from the expectations expressed in this report. 

Statements Prepared Under ASPE 

The Partnership’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 continue to utilize the Accounting 
Standards for Private Enterprise (“ASPE”) which was adopted for the first time by the Partnership in 2011. The 
Partnership can move to the IFRS framework at a time of its choosing, should it believe there is merit in such a 
change in accounting standards. 

Financing Activities 

Equity Financing: In December 2021, the Partnership completed a Private Placement in which a total of 5,154,126 
units were issued for consideration of $2.7075 per unit, representing a 5% discount on the most recently published 
NAV per unit of $2.85. Gross proceeds from the Private Placement amounted to $13,954,796. 

An additional 36,250 units valued at $2.755 per unit were issued on a timed purchase basis. Five equal annual 
payments of $19,974 will be received by the Partnership in February of each year from 2022 through 2025. The 
first payment, also for $19,974, was received in April 2021. Future payments are due on or before February 20 of 
each year in sync with the timed purchase units issued in 2020.  

The Partnership also issued units as consideration for the following transactions during the year: 

i) 337,250 units valued at $859,988 were issued as partial consideration for the Partnership’s purchase of 
the properties located at 2251 Second Avenue and 49 Waterfront Place. 

ii) 182,301 units valued at $464,868 were issued as partial consideration for the Partnership’s purchase of 
Earl’s Restaurant Whitehorse Ltd. (Earls). 

iii) 103,347 units valued at $263,535 were issued through the Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRP”).  
iv) 48,381 units valued at $130,992 were converted from Retention Awards to Partnership units as part of 

the Private Placement in December 2021. 

Long Term Debt:  At December 31, 2021, long term debt was $39.6 million, representing an increase of $262,406 
or 0.7% during the year (2020 - $39.3 million). The growth in long term debt was due to several new debt facilities 
related to the following additions offset by the noted reductions: 
 
Additions to debt: 

 The acquisition of the Alpine View apartments building; 
 The acquisition of the property located at 2251 Second Avenue; 
 The acquisition of the property located at 49 Waterfront Place; 
 A new debt facility related to multiple condominium units at 2237 Second Avenue (Waterfront Station); 

and 
 NVD’s portion of a new debt facility related to the property located at 100 Platinum Road, which was 

purchased as a joint venture with Ketza Construction Corp. 
 



 

 
 

NVDLP Annual Report to Unitholders  
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 

 
 

           PAGE 25  

 
Reductions to debt: 

 Regular principal repayments;  
 A special principal repayment of $3.5 million on a BDC loan that was required as part of the sale of the 

High Country Inn; and 
 Restructuring of the loan extended to the Dawson Downtown Limited Partnership (“DDLP”) to equalize 

the amounts owed to DDLP by each partner. 

The restructuring of the DDLP loan was more than offset by an increase of the Partnership’s interest in DDLP. The 
repayment of a portion of the BDC hotel loan related to the High Country Inn was in anticipation of the sale of that 
property which took place in December 2021. The additions to debt were made in step with the normal approach 
taken by the Partnership, which provides for a Loan to Value of no more than 65% and a typical amortization 
period of 20 years. The choice of variable or fixed term and the length of term is based on management’s 
evaluation of circumstances at the time the loans are placed. Management attempts to mix the term lengths in 
order to diversify the loan portfolio and to select variable or fixed rate options based on future expectations for 
interest rate changes and the current weighting of fixed versus variable rates in the debt portfolio.  

Debenture: In November 2020, the Partnership issued debentures totaling $10.96 million in order to support an 
Issuer Bid undertaken to create liquidity for Unitholders. Of this amount, $2.22 million was immediately retired as 
required by certain conditions of the debentures leaving $8.74 million outstanding at December 31, 2020. 

Two separate payments were made during 2021. In February 2021, a payment of $1.89 million (February 2020 - 
$nil) was made from proceeds of River’s Reach II sales, an amount that largely satisfied the required payment to be 
made on or before February 20, 2022.  In December 2021, the remaining debenture balance of $6.85 million was 
repaid, more than three years prior to the scheduled retirement date of February 20, 2025. The Partnership did 
not carry a liability related to the debenture as at December 31, 2021. 

While the debentures were interest free, they carried certain obligations that limited the flexibility of the 
Partnership in respect to debt and equity financing. In addition, the sale of the High Country Inn triggered a 
requirement that meant that the bulk of the debenture balance would have to be repaid in February 2022. Based 
on this the decision was taken to retire the whole amount of the debenture in December 2021.  

Weighted Average Cost of Debt: At December 31, 2021, the weighted average cost of long term debt was 3.69% 
(December 31, 2020 – 3.80%). The biggest driver of this decrease was the new debt agreements that the 
Partnership entered during the year, all of which carried rates below the previous weighted average cost of debt. 
Refinancing of existing debt agreements along with a $3.5 million lump sum principal payment on one of the 
Partnership’s highest rate loans also contributed to the decrease. 

The Partnership’s total long-term debt includes 57% fixed and 43% variable rate loans at December 31, 2021 (54% 
fixed and 46% variable at December 31, 2020). At December 31, 2021, long term fixed rate debt had a weighted 
average cost of 3.80% and long term variable rate debt had a weighted average cost of 3.55% (December 31, 2020 
– 3.83% and 3.78%, respectively). Total debt to equity ratio was 0.71:1 on a book value basis (December 31, 2020 – 
1.38:1). The decrease in the ratio was primarily driven by the significant increase in book value of equity during the 
year due to the equity raised through the Private Placement, as well the inclusion of $5.9 million in net income. On 
a fair market value basis, the debt-to-equity ratio was 0.40:1 (December 31, 2020 – 0.59:1). Along with the Private 
Placement, an increase in the Partnership’s NAV per unit also contributed to the decrease in this ratio. At 
December 31, 2021, the Partnership was exposed to interest rate risk, with each 1% rise in its’ variable interest 
rates responsible for an annual increase of $170,211 in interest expense (December 31, 2020 - $181,344). Do to a 
miscalculation error the 2020 values were reported in error in the previous report. 
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Distributions: The Partnership distributed $650,000 or 2.6 cents per unit in April 2021 (May 2020 - $1,500,000 or 
5.6 cents per unit). The Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRP”) was reinstituted in March 2021 after being 
suspended due to the uncertainties caused by the COVID pandemic and its potential impact on the Partnership’s 
operations. A total of 41% of total units outstanding at the time of the distribution opted into the DRP program, 
which resulted in an additional 103,347 units being issued at $2.55 per unit. 

Retention Awards  

The Retention Award (“RA”) program was paused in 2020 due to the uncertainty caused by COVID pandemic and 
its potential impact on the Partnership’s operations. All RA holders were given the option to redeem their units at 
$2.84 per unit on suspension of the program, with payout made in the fourth quarter of 2020.  The program was 
reinstated in 2021 with participation extended to board and senior management members.  

The program was designed to reward senior management and board tenure and to provide a “tracking share” 
mechanism with RAs tracking the LP units once issued. As such it aligned board and management compensation 
with the performance of the units of the Partnership. At the end of 2021 the program was re-evaluated, and 
changes were made, the most significant of which was to only vest RAs after the holder has spent three years with 
the Partnership since the units were granted. Previously one third of the award vested on each anniversary of the 
grant date. This change was made to ensure RAs are earned only after a board member of senior management 
team member has remained employed in the three-year period following the grant.  

RAs that were granted in 2021 or earlier were grandfathered to maintain the annual vesting privileges that were in 
place. By December 2021 a total of $213,117 in RA liability had accumulated at a value of $2.85 per unit. Holders 
pledged $130,992 of this amount to the purchase of units in the December 2021 Private Placement and a further 
$72,363 were cashed out. This left a cumulative liability of $9,762 in RAs at December 31, 2021 (3,425 RA units). 
Going forward, the Partnership will continue to make a provision for the RA liability annually, however no RAs will 
be cashable until December 31, 2024, other than the RAs in place at the end of December 31, 2021, and any grants 
that vest in 2022 and 2023 associated with Retention Awards granted in 2020 and 2021.  

At January 1, 2022 the total of previous RA grants that have yet to vest total 18,634 units of which 11,797 will vest 
in 2022 and 6,841 will vest in 2023. These unvested units have a total value of $53,107 which will be recognized as 
an expense in the year that they vest. All RAs granted in January 2022 and later will not vest until December 31, 
2024 and will vest at that time only if the holder is still employed by NVD.  

Working Capital 

Restricted Cash are the balances held for dedicated capital expenditures within the Hotel Division, or for deficiency 
work related to the River’s Reach II condominium complex. 

The balances related to the Hotel Division arise from regular monthly payments made to BDC as part of the hotel 
loan agreements and are refunded to NVD as capital expenditures are incurred. At December 31, 2021, the 
balance was $536,650 (December 31, 2020 - $nil due to the reserve requirement being suspended by BDC in 
response to COVID related deferrals). BDC has agreed that they have over-collected reserves based on the 
provision of the loan agreements and rebated $270,000 to NVD in March 2022. They have agreed to further 
reduce the collection of reserves due to the elimination of the High Country Inn from the Partnership’s portfolio.  

The balance related to the River’s Reach II deficiency work was $138,624 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 
2020 - $nil). These balances are accessible to the completion of warranty work on a unit-by-unit basis. 

Accounts Receivable totalled $2,212,302 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – $4,188,016). The decrease 
brought the Partnership back in line with historical levels of accounts receivables, after witnessing an increase in 
2020 due to pending receipt of government grants. 
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Promissory Note totalled $10,160,000 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $nil). The entire amount was 
related to the Partnership’s sale of the High Country Inn. The promissory note began accruing interest at 5% per 
annum on February 1, 2022, for principal amounts then outstanding. The Partnership received $4,500,000 principal 
and $19,485 in interest on February 15th, and the remaining $5,660,000 principal and $24,811 interest on March 
18th. The Partnership recognized a total of $44,296 in interest income related to the promissory note in 2022. 

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities totaled $1,152,669 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - 
$2,492,411). The decrease mainly relates to the fact that the Coast High Country Inn was no longer operational at 
year end. Another material reduction is that most Retention Awards were converted to units during the Private 
Placement, significantly reducing the carrying amount of that accrued liability at December 31, 2021. 

Loans Receivable totaled $1,528,048 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $1,817,859). The decrease 
related to the repayment in full of a Vendor Take Back (“VTB”) mortgage during the year, the loan that was repaid 
as part of the Earls acquisition and the conveyance of a tenant fit up loan into a rental agreement as part of  a 
lease extension. These were offset in part by a new VTB issued during the year related to the Partnership’s sale of 
the Trade Centre Condominium in the Titanium Way Business Park. 

Development Activities 

Property under development balances increased by 9% to $4,894,060 at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 – 
$4,486,196). No property was moved from property under development to properties and equipment during the 
year (2020 - $11,637,433). Spending during the year consisted of the Partnership’s interest in the construction 
costs related to the Midnight Sun Hotel in Dawson of $84,987 (2020 - $80,574), and spending in Q4 related to the 
new Hyatt Place Hotel project of $123,131 (2020 - $nil). A total of $56,058 of interest was capitalized during the 
year (2020 - $96,363). 

Capital Expenditures on Property and Equipment 

The Partnership invested $14.2 million in property and equipment in 2021 (2020 - $1.5 million), much of which was 
related to acquisitions. The Partnership acquired the following businesses and properties during the year: 

 In April, the Partnership purchased Earls for $1.32 million.  
 In May, the Partnership purchased both properties located at 2251 Second Avenue and 49 Waterfront 

Place for a total of $4.33 million. 
 In September, the Partnership purchased the Alpine View apartments building for a total of $2.55 million. 
 Also in September, the Partnership purchased the property located at 100 Platinum Road in a joint 

venture with Ketza Construction Corp. The Partnership’s interest in this purchase totaled $0.9 million. 

Other spending in 2021 consisted of $0.7 million on leasehold improvements at the Belly of the Bison restaurant, 
$0.7 million to acquire an additional unit at River’s Reach II, and $0.5 million on improvements at NVD Place.  

Operating Activities 

Revenues: Revenues decreased by 36% to $17.3 million in 2021 (2020 - $27.2 million). The decrease was largely 
driven by 2020 development revenues that included $11.7 million in sales of properties under development 
associated with River’s Reach II condominium sales (2021 - $nil). 

Hotel revenues were down 13% to $7.55 million (2020 - $8.70 million). The Partnership chose to recognize the 
CEWS funding that it received in 2021 as a reduction to expenses, while in 2020 it was recognized as revenues. This 
amounted to $1.5 million in 2020, which more than offsets the decrease. Normalizing for the accounting policy 
change, hotel revenues would have increased by 5% in 2021. This aligns with the return to domestic travel that 
was witnessed in the back half of the year, offset by the removal of the High Country Inn from the Partnership’s 
hotel portfolio, and the fact that most of Q1 2020 was operated in a pre-COVID environment. 

Rental revenues increased by 17% to $4.48 million in 2021 (2020 - $3.85 million). The commercial and residential 
real estate markets remained unaffected by the COVID pandemic, and the Partnership added a number of new 
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properties during the year. These factors, coupled with the move towards near-zero vacancy rates, resulted in the 
significant revenue growth for rentals. 

Restaurant revenues increased by 81% to $4.64 million in 2021 (2020 - $2.56 million). The Partnership acquired 
Earls in April and launched the Belly of the Bison restaurant in August, to go along with the existing Gold Pan 
Saloon which accounted for much of the revenue recorded in 2020. All restaurants performed well until late in the 
year, when the COVID Omicron variant resulted in renewed lockdown restrictions that negatively impacted food 
and beverage establishments. 

Other revenues increased by 29% to $626,483 (2020 - $485,743). An increase in management fee income of 
$149,134 related to the management contracts was associated with increases in contracted amounts with 
Normandy Manor and the Downtown Hotel. In both cases NVD is a co-owner but also provides management 
services under contract. Income related to a property tax credit from the construction of River’s Reach II also 
increased by $66,056 during the year. These were offset by a 19% decrease in revenues in Mighty Wash to 
$294,929 (2020 - $363,485). The Mighty Wash asset was sold in the first quarter of 2022.  

Gross Profit and Direct Expenses Direct expenses decreased by 50% to $10.2 million (2020 - $20.3 million). The 
decrease was primarily due to 2020 direct expenses including $11.3 million of development costs related to River’s 
Reach II condominium sales (2021 - $nil). 

Hotel costs declined 23% to $4.39 million (2020 - $5.73 million). The Partnership chose to recognize the CEWS 
funding it received in 2021 as a reduction to expenses, which amounted to $1.5 million in 2020. Normalizing for 
the accounting policy change, hotel direct costs would have increased by 4%, or $0.16 million. The increase reflects 
activity levels associated with a return to more normal volumes as hotel demand improved in the second half of 
the year, offset by staffing challenges resulting in lower labour costs. While staffing challenges are positive in 
respect to margin impact, this issue may become a problem in the longer term.  

Rental costs increased by 12% to $781,483 (2020 - $698,412). The increase was mainly driven by a higher 
percentage of new leases being with the government, who insist on gross lease arrangements as opposed to Triple 
Net where most costs are directly attributable to the tenant. Properties acquired during the year located at 2251 
Second Avenue and 49 Waterfront Place, along with Alpine View apartments were all subject to gross leases.  

Restaurant costs increased by 90% to $4.24 million (2020 - $2.23 million). The increase is driven by the acquisition 
of Earls in April and the launch of the Belly of the Bison in August. Margins were off in the last quarter of the year 
due to the impacts of lockdowns associated with the Omicron variant, which explains the percentage increase in 
cost exceeding the percentage increase in revenues.  

Gross profit increased by 2.5% to $7.14 million, which was 41% of gross revenues (2020 - $6.96 million and 26% of 
gross revenues). The increase in margin as a percentage of revenue is largely related to the fact that 2020 had a 
large number of sales of properties under development that were sold at relatively low margins. Reclassification of 
CEWS received from revenues to a reduction in expenses also improved margin on a percentage basis, while the 
gross profit remains unimpacted. 

Expenses: Amortization expense increased by 2.2% to $2.51 million (2020 - $2.45 million). The increase relates to 
having a full year of amortization on River’s Reach II condominiums, along with the amortization related to 
property acquired during the year, offset by reductions associated with property sold during the year. 

Interest expense decreased by 3.4% to $1.62 million (2020 - $1.68 million). The decrease relates to several new 
long term fixed rate debt facilities entered into during the year, all of which were at rates below the Partnership’s 
weighted average cost of debt. Restructuring existing debt facilities to take advantage of a favorable interest rate 
environment also contributed to lower interest rate expenses during the year. Although $3.5 million in hotel debt 
was paid off during the year, this had very little impact on interest expense as it occurred late in the year. 

Wage expense includes staff not directly working in operational areas of the Partnership. The $1.59 million 
expense represents an increase of 62% during the year (2020 - $0.98 million). During fiscal year 2020, a number of 
senior management opted to take salary reductions to assist with the cash flow challenges the Partnership faced 



 

 
 

NVDLP Annual Report to Unitholders  
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 

 
 

           PAGE 29  

during the early phases of the COVID pandemic. Salaries returned to historical levels for the majority of 2021, 
resulting in an increase in base salary costs. In addition, an investment was made in the senior management team 
by adding a new leadership positions. These additions will allow the company to undertake future development 
projects in a more disciplined manner. During the year, NVD’s long time CFO moved to a part time position and 
was replaced by a new CFO. This increased accounting wages, while providing the Partnership with important 
depth. The declaration of a bonus in 2021 had a major impact on wage expense. After a lengthy period of 
suppressed activity related to COVID, the Partnership began to turnaround near the mid-point of 2021. In 2020 the 
financial results were assisted by voluntary wage reductions, and in 2021 costs were heightened by the bonus 
declaration. A bonus of $247,500 was paid in December 2021 to management and staff in recognition of their 
efforts (2020 - $nil). The bonus was responsible for 40% of the wage expense increase in 2021.  

A total of $254,739 in salaries and wages were capitalized in 2021 (2020 - $351,732), a reduction of 27%. In 2020, 
$64,920 in salaries were capitalized as part of the River’s Reach II condominium project (2021 - $nil). The 
completion of the Midnight Sun in 2021 also contributed to fewer salaries and wages being capitalized compared 
to the previous year. 

Governance expenses increased by 28% to $132,743 for the year (2020 - $103,326). As recognition for their 
involvement and assistance with the successful Private Placement and for significant support during the COVID 
impacted period, a bonus was paid to board members totaling $42,000 (2020 - $nil). 

Office expenses increased by 67% to $308,996 (2020 - $184,558). The Partnership spent $135,203 in IT outsourcing 
and software related expenses in 2021, an increase of 59% (2020 - $84,770). This was driven by increases in 
management headcount during the year, along with an increased number of properties that require management 
of IT services. However, the increase in costs is a concern and this will be a management focus area in 2022.  

Marketing expenses increased by 40% to $162,603 (2020 - $116,390). The increase was primarily related to a 
multi-year commitment to the Northlight Innovation Hub and the return of marketing events as COVID restrictions 
began to ease.  

Professional fees increased by 9.3% to $111,154 (2020 - $101,392). The increase was driven almost entirely by the 
fees from a recruitment agency that was used to facilitate the hiring of a senior leadership team member.  

Travel costs more than doubled to $38,247 (2020 - $17,069). The opening of domestic borders allowed the CEO to 
return to a more regular travel schedule in the back half of 2021, whereas for the majority of 2020, travel was 
heavily restricted due to the COVID pandemic. Other travel costs include those related to the responsibilities that 
the Partnership has under its management contracts with some of its joint ventures. 

Income from operations decreased by 50% to $660,477 (2020 - $1,322,638) as a result of the impacts of all of the 
revenue and expense items discussed above. Normalized for bonuses paid to staff and board members, Income 
from Operations was off 27% from the previous year.  

Interest Income and Extraordinary Items 

Interest income decreased by 2.8% to $88,252 (2020 - $90,825). The Partnership has entered into a number of 
VTB’s from which it generated $39,747 in interest income during 2021 (2020 - $43,806). In all cases, the VTB’s are 
secured by the underlying property. The Partnership also earned $12,988 in passive interest income during the 
year (2020 - $7,585). Certain loans held by the Partnership were repaid during the year which resulted in a net 
decline in income from this source.  

Gains on sale increased dramatically during the year to $5,215,526 (2020 - $203,829). Most of the gain was related 
to the sale of the Coast High Country Inn, which amounted to $4,853,450. The property was sold for proceeds of 
$10,160,000, via a promissory note, to Safe at Home Society Yukon and will be repurposed as an affordable 
housing project under the Federal Government’s Rapid Housing Initiative.  
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The Coast High Country Inn was used as a COVID isolation facility from the beginning of the pandemic in March 
2020. The Partnership intends to use the proceeds from this sale to build a new Hyatt Place Hotel on its lands on 
Main Street. Preliminary costs have already been incurred for this project, with construction scheduled to begin in 
Spring 2022. 

Other gains during the year resulted from the sale of three residential units at River’s Reach II, a residential 
property that was sold to a member of the senior management team, the final residential unit owned in River’s 
Reach I, a commercial unit in Waterfront Station, and the Trade Centre condominium which was sold to an existing 
Unitholder. Total gains from these property sales amounted to $362,076. 

The Partnership has not traditionally relied on the sale of income producing properties to generate net income 
results but believes that the sales of older properties in 2021 (and continuing in 2022) allows it to realize on value 
that has been built in these assets and to repurpose the cash flow along with equity raised into higher quality new 
built product that has income growth potential. As a result, while some proceeds from the sales will be distributed 
to Unitholders, repatriated capital, and some of the gains from these sales will be reinvested in growth-oriented 
assets for the Partnership.  

Net Income more than tripled in 2021 to $5.93 million (2020 - $1.62 million). This is a result of the impacts of the 
items previously discussed in this section, but mainly due to the gain on the sale of the Coast High Country Inn. 

Liquidity 

The Partnership is committed to providing regular liquidity events. After a major liquidity event facilitated the exit 
of approximately $11 million in units in late 2020, the Partnership did not make liquidity available as part of its 
Private Placement in 2021. This is the first Private Placement since 2017 that did not provide a formal liquidity 
option. It was expected that a second Private Placement would be needed in 2022 to support development 
activities, however sales of certain older and less strategic assets will limit the amount of further equity raising 
activity in the short term. However, consistent with its normal approach, the Partnership will include a liquidity 
opportunity with the next Private Placement, when it occurs.  

Risks 

As a Real Estate organization that Partnership is exposed to risk associated with increases in interest rate expense. 
The Partnership’s exposure to this risk is set out earlier in this discussion. The Partnership attempts to mitigate this 
risk by moving to a fixed rate skew for its debt facilities in times of rising rates. 

The Partnership is exposed to external factors that introduce risk and impact financial performance. Those factors 
such as pandemics, which have a major impact on tourism and business mobility can have a major impact on the 
financial results, such as was the case in the past two years. The Partnership seeks to mitigate these impacts by 
applying for any subsidies available that governments introduce to deal with such impacts.  

The Partnership holds all of its assets in the Yukon which places it at risk particularly when the Yukon economy is 
performing below national levels. As NVD grows, management and the board are increasingly focused on looking 
at opportunities outside the Yukon that have similar characteristics to those opportunities that have made the 
Partnership successful inside the Yukon. In such a way this risk can be mitigated to some extent in the future.  

Unitholders 

At December 31, 2021 there were 114 Unitholders in the Partnership (December 31, 2020 – 100) represented and 
controlled by 91 unique individuals or entities (100 Unitholders and 79 unique individuals or entities at December 
31, 2020). During the year the number of Unitholders increased with the purchase of properties at 49 Waterfront 
Place and 2221 Second Avenue in Whitehorse, as well as through the Private Placement that closed in December 
2021. As a result, a total of 30,747,654 units of the Partnership are issued and outstanding with no options or 
warrants issued (24,885,973 basic and fully diluted units at December 31, 2020) of which 72.8% are owned by Yukon 
residents or entities, and 47.9% are owned by Yukon First Nation entities. Board and staff members own 13.1% of the 
outstanding units in the partnership. The Unitholder ownership is highly concentrated, with the top five Unitholders 
owning 52% of the units and the top 15 owners holding an 80% interest in the Partnership.  
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Financial Objectives 

In the 2020 annual report the following objectives were set out (in bold) with the results noted following the 
objective. 

A. The Partnership will establish itself as a Whitehorse leader in delivery of food and beverage services. 
Outcome: The partnership acquired Earls Restaurants Whitehorse Ltd. in April 2021 and renamed it NVD 
Restaurants Ltd. The Gold Pan Saloon was rolled into the new entity and Earls was immediately renovated 
over a two-week period. The Gold Pan Saloon was expanded, and a games room was introduced. In 
August the Belly of the Bison was launched in the Edgewater Hotel. Accordingly, NVD has become a food 
and beverage leader in Whitehorse with strong prospects. This objective was achieved.  

B. The Partnership will strive to continue to exceed Canadian national RevPAR averages for hotels. 
Outcome: Throughout the COVID-impact period NVD Whitehorse-based hotels have meaningfully 
exceeded Canadian RevPAR norms as has the Bedrock Hotel in Mayo. The Downtown property has 
achieved Canadian RevPAR norms. The Coast High Country Inn and Midnight Sun did not operate as 
hotels. This objective was achieved.  

C. The Partnership will seek to exceed net margin performance from its Real Estate Rental versus 2020. 
Outcome: Through increased rates on renewals and by filling the remaining vacancies, NVD achieved this 
result in 2021 and produced results well above budget expectations. This objective was achieved.  

D. The Partnership will focus on ensuring its Normandy Assisted Living project remains on time and on 
budget. Outcome: Covid supply chain issues and impacts on the workforce have caused a slight delay in 
the delivery of this project and pushed the budget upward. Originally slated for completion and 
occupancy in September 2022, which was a trigger for the forgivable loan component of the mortgage, 
this project will now complete later in 2022. Formal arrangements have been made with CMHC to secure 
the support of the forgivable loan despite these delays. The project has also seen some minor, but so far 
acceptable budget creep associated with some of the same issues. This objective was not achieved.  

E. The Partnership will conclude “building for unit” based purchases of strategic real estate assets. 
Outcome: Units were utilized as partial considering in both the acquisition of the Earls Restaurant asset 
and in the acquisition of buildings at 49 Waterfront Place and 2251 Second Avenue in Whitehorse.   This 
objective was achieved.  

F. The Partnership will maintain a strong, liquid balance sheet to ensure resiliency, and to position it to 
take advantage of post-Covid opportunities as presented. Outcome: The balance sheet has never been 
stronger with a much lower debt to equity ratio and considerable available cash reserves. This objective 
was achieved. 

G. The Partnership will resume a keen focus on expanding paid out yield while also supporting NAV per 
unit growth. Outcome: The Partnership is in position to make a strong distribution payout based on 2021 
Net Income, and as set out in this annual report the NAV per unit values have increased considerably, 
based both on management efforts and a strong Real Estate market in Yukon. This objective was 
achieved.  

 

Key objectives for the current year are set out in the CEO’s Letter to Unitholders.  

 



 
 

NVDLP Annual Report to Unitholders  
As at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 

 

 PAGE 32 

 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying financial statements of the Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership and all the 
information in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board 
of Directors.  

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for private enterprises.  Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts 
based on estimates and judgments.  When alternative accounting methods exist, management has chosen 
those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances, in order to ensure that the financial statements are 
presented fairly, in all material respects.   

The Partnership maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of quality that are 
consistent with reasonable cost.  Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the Partnership's assets are appropriately accounted for and 
adequately safeguarded. 

The Partnership's management is responsible for ensuring that the Partnership fulfills its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. 

The Board of Directors review the Partnership's financial statements and recommend their approval.  The 
Board of Directors meet periodically with management, as well as with the external accountants, to discuss 
internal controls over the financial reporting issues, to satisfy themselves that each party is properly 
discharging their responsibilities, and to review the annual report, the financial statements and the external 
accountants' report.  The Board of Directors takes this information into consideration when approving the 
financial statements for issuance to the partners.  The Board of Directors also consider the engagement of the 
external accountants. 

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte LLP in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards on behalf of the partnership.  Deloitte LLP has full access to the Board of Directors. 
 
March 28, 2022 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 

 
 
Lori Simcox, Director and Audit Committee Member 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 
Piers McDonald, Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Partners of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
 
Opinion  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
(the “Partnership”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2021, and the 
consolidated statements of income, partners’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively 
referred to as the “financial statements”).  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Partnership as at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises (“ASPE”).  

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Partnership in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is enough and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with ASPE, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Partnership’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Partnership or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Partnership’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.  
 

 
Deloitte LLP 
939 Granville Street  
Vancouver BC  V6Z 1L3 
Canada  
 
Tel: 604-669-4466 
www.deloitte.ca 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control.   

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Partnership to cease to continue 
as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
  

  
 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
March 28, 2022 
Langley, British Columbia 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 

As at December 31,     2021   2020

       
ASSETS       

 Cash (Note 2)    $             6,344,267   $            5,635,211  

 Accounts receivable (Note 11)  2,282,761  4,188,006 
 Promissory Note (Notes 21 and 22)  10,160,000  - 

 Inventories   263,397  209,649 

 Loans receivable (Note 10)  1,528,048  1,817,859 

 Property and equipment (Note 3)    70,360,916  67,359,796 

 Properties under development (Note 4)  4,894,060  4,486,196 

 Other (Note 5)   1,849,103            1,590,796  

     $          97,682,552   $          85,917,912  
 
LIABILITIES & PARTNERS' EQUITY     

 

 
Commitments (Note 14) 
Contingencies (Note 16) 

     

 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 11)      $            1,793,508    $            2,492,411  

 Customer deposits   414,669  510,254   

 Debentures (Note 6)    -  8,741,293  

 Long term debt (Note 7)    39,586,189  39,323,783  

              41,793,917            51,067,741   

Partners' equity (Note 13) 55,888,635               34,850,171  

     $          97,682,552   $         85,917,912  

 

 
Approved on behalf of the Board, 

  

 
 

 
Murray Leitch, Director, and Audit Committee Chair 

 

 
 

 

Piers McDonald, Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Income 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021  2020 
 

Revenues (Note 19)      
 Hotels    $                 7,545,239   $               10,364,655  
 Sale of properties under development  -  11,653,239 

 Rentals (Note 11)  4,484,337           3,847,859  
 Restaurants (Note 11, 20)           4,641,817   889,704 

 Other  626,483  485,743  

   17,297,877         27,241,210  
Direct expenses (Note 19)     
 Hotels   4,388,706           7,140,860  

 Cost of properties under development (Note 4)  -  11,292,464 

 Rentals                 781,483                  698,412  

 Restaurants  4,236,494  818,788 
 Other  753,376  327,026 

          10,160,059          20,277,390  
Gross profit   7,137,818           6,963,820 

Expenses      
 Amortization                    2,509,317                    2,454,632  

 Interest (Note 11)                   1,624,830                    1,682,350  

 Wages                    1,589,453                    981,495  
 Office                       308,996                        184,558  
 Professional fees                        144,037                         101,392  

 Governance (Note 11)                       132,743                        103,326  
 Marketing                         162,603                         116,390  

 Travel                          38,247                          17,069  

            6,510,224           5,641,392  
Income from operations            627,594           1,322,428 
Other income      
 Gain on sale of property and equipment (Note 21)             5,215,526              203,829  
 Interest income (Notes 10 and 11)                88,252                 90,825 

Net income   $                  5,931,372   $                  1,617,082 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Partners' Equity 

 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 2020

 
Partners' equity, beginning of year 

 
$               34,850,171 

  
$         41,437,916 

Units issued (Note 13)           15,774,046            4,574,032 
Units redeemed (Note 13) -  (11,244,815) 
Issuance costs (16,955)  (34,044) 
Net income for the year 5,931,372  1,617,082 
Partners’ equity, before distributions 56,538,635  36,350,171 
Distribution to unitholders (650,000)  (1,500,000) 

Partners' equity, end of year $              55,888,635  $        34,850,171 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021  2020 
 

Cash flows from operating activities                  
 Net income for the year  $       5,931,372     $     1,617,082  

 Non-cash items    
  Amortization of financing fees  62,230                  71,985  
  Amortization of property and equipment  2,509,317             2,456,488  
  Non-cash proceeds from property sales  -             (2,035,824)  
  Retention awards expensed 139,067 105,096  
  Cost of properties sold - 11,653,239 
  Gain on sale of property and equipment (5,215,526)          (203,809) 

    3,426,359 13,664,237 
 Changes in non-cash working capital balances    

  Accounts payable and accrued labilities  (699,353)        (1,207,548)  
  Accounts receivable  1,905,245        (1,168,460)  
  Other assets  (258,307)          (437,737) 
  Inventories  (53,748)             86,102 

  Customer deposits  (95,585)          (432,564)  

    4,224,712 10,540,030 
Cash flows from investing activities    
 Loans receivable  289,811           (522,347) 
 Proceeds on sale of property and equipment 3,670,233          1,420,790  
 Purchase of Earls Restaurants Whitehorse Ltd. (588,410) - 
 Purchase of property and equipment  (11,268,855) (2,139,921) 
 Purchase of properties under development  (407,864)      (2,626,395) 

         (8,305,085)      (3,867,873) 
Cash flows from financing activities    
 Financing fees paid  (10,120)          (1,482) 
 Advances of long-term debt  7,314,955 1,899,203  
 Units issued  13,974,796           4,290,704 
 Repayment of Debenture (8,741,293) (2,223,835) 
 Issuance costs - (34,044) 
 Distribution to unitholders  (650,000)        (1,500,000) 
 Distribution from Joint Venture - 29,400  
 Advance to Joint Venture - (100,000) 
 Repayment of short-term debt - (3,000,000) 
 Repayment of long-term debt  (7,098,924) (1,253,191) 

    4,789,428 (1,893,875) 
Net decrease (increase) in cash during year  709,056           4,742,282  
Cash, beginning of year  5,635,211           892,929 
Cash, end of year  $       6,344,267  $      5,635,211  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions   
 Issuance of vendor take-back loans receivable $          220,000  $         301,771       
 Transfer Properties under development to Property and equipment - $   11,637,433 
 Issuance (redemption) of units for property purchase $       1,324,855 $      (280,000) 
 Debentures issued upon redemption of units - $   10,964,815 

 Issuance of promissory note on property sale $     10,160,000 - 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Nature of Operations 

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership (the "Partnership") was formed as a limited partnership under the laws of Alberta 
on January 15, 2004 and was extra-provincially registered under the Partnership and Business Names Act of the Yukon Territory on March 
22, 2004. The Partnership's principal business is the acquisition, development and sale of commercial, industrial, and residential properties, 
and the operation of hotels and restaurants located in the Yukon. 

The Partnership consists of a general partner (the “General Partner”), and a number of limited partners holding partnership units 
(collectively the “Partners”). 

Pursuant to the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement, the General Partner has unlimited liability for the debts and obligations of 
the Partnership. The liability of each Limited Partner is limited to the amount of capital contributed or agreed to be contributed, the 
Limited Partner's assumed share of the mortgage financing, and their share of undistributed income. 

Basis of Accounting 

These consolidated financial statements reflect only the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the Partnership and, therefore, do 
not include any other assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses of the Partners or the liability of the Partners for income taxes on earnings 
of the Partnership. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 
enterprises (“ASPE”). 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Partnership, its controlled subsidiaries and its proportionate 
share of the assets, liabilities and operations of its joint venture interests. Control is achieved when the Partnership has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intercompany transactions and balances are 
eliminated on consolidation. The financial statements of the Partnership’s subsidiaries are prepared using consistent accounting policies 
and the same reporting date as the Partnership. These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership, 
45978 Yukon Inc. and Iditarod Landscaping Inc. (wholly owned subsidiaries), the Partnerships’ interest in the Dawson Downtown 
Partnership (50%) and the Bedrock Hotel Limited Partnership (49%) and its joint venture interests. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist of hotel supplies, which are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis. 
A provision is raised when it is believed that the costs incurred will not be recovered on the ultimate sale of the inventory.  

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capitalized costs include all direct costs related to development, 
construction and upgrades, other than ordinary repairs and maintenance, carrying costs including interest on debt and property taxes during 
construction, and land acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the following annual rates: 

 Method Rate

Automotive Declining balance basis 30% 
Buildings Declining balance basis 4% 
Computer equipment Declining balance basis 30% 
Computer software Declining balance basis 30% 
Furniture and fixtures Declining balance basis 20% 
Paving and landscaping Declining balance basis 8% 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and properties under development. Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying value might be impaired. An impairment loss is 
recognized when the asset’s carrying value exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows from the asset’s use and eventual 
disposition. The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the fair value. Any 
impairment is included in income for the year. 
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1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Income Taxes 

The Partnership is a limited partnership. As a result, the Partnership's earnings or losses for income tax purposes are included in the tax 
returns of the Partners. Accordingly, no recognition has been given to current or future income taxes in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of the Partnership. Net earnings for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable income 
reportable to the Partners as a result of differences between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable 
income allocation requirements under the Partnership agreement. 

Revenue Recognition 

Properties are rented to tenants pursuant to rental agreements, which provide for various rental terms with non-refundable rental 
payments. Revenue from rental agreements is recognized over the rental term as amounts become due and when collection is reasonably 
assured. 

Revenue from the sale of properties under development and property and equipment is recognized when persuasive evidence of an 
arrangement exists, amounts are fixed and determinable, all material conditions of the sale have been fulfilled, collection is reasonably 
assured and title to the property has transferred. 

Hotel and restaurant revenue is recognized as services are provided and when collection is reasonably assured, and refundable tenant 
security deposits are recorded as a liability until repaid to the  tenant. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Areas requiring significant 
management estimates relate to the determination of the recoverability of accounts and loans receivable, the fair market value and any 
potential impairments of property and equipment and property under development and held for sale, the useful lives of property and 
equipment, and the allocation of the cost of properties under development to direct expenses as individual properties are sold.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates and may have an impact on future periods. 

Properties Held for Sale 

The Partnership classifies properties as held for sale when management approves and commits to a formal plan of sale and it does not 
believe it can utilize the lands for active development. Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with 
net realizable value being determined as the estimated selling price less estimated costs to sell. 

Properties under Development 

The Partnership classifies properties under development as those that are or will be actively developed for the purposes of generating 
rental income or subsequent revenue from sales for the Partnership. 

Non-Monetary Transactions 

All non-monetary transactions are measured at fair value unless: 

 the transaction lacks commercial substance; 
 the transaction is an exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be 

sold in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange; 
 neither the fair value of the assets received, nor the fair value of the assets given up is reliably measurable; or 
 the transaction is a non-monetary, non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restructuring or 

liquidation. 
 

A non-monetary transaction has commercial substance when the Partnership’s future cash flows are expected to change significantly as a 
result of the transaction.  
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Jointly Controlled Assets 

Jointly controlled assets are investments which the Partnership has joint control with one or more unaffiliated entities. Jointly controlled 
assets are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method as follows: 

 the consolidated balance sheet includes the Partnership’s proportionate share of the assets and the liabilities of the jointly controlled 
assets; 

 the consolidated statement of operations includes the Partnership's proportionate share of the income and expenses of the jointly 
controlled asset; and 

 gains on transactions between the Partnership and its jointly controlled assets are eliminated to the extent of the Partnership's 
 interest in the jointly controlled assets and losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset. 

Jointly Controlled Enterprises 

The Partnership has elected to perform an analysis of its interest in each jointly controlled enterprise to determine whether it represents a 
right to the net assets or rights to the individual assets and obligations for the individual liabilities of the jointly controlled enterprise.  

Financial Instruments 

Cash, accounts receivable, promissory note, loans receivable, accounts payable, customer deposits, long term debt and debentures are 
initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Financing and transaction costs associated with long term 
debt are netted against the carrying value of the long-term debt and are amortized over the term of the financing using the straight-line 
method. Financial assets are recognized on the date the Partnership commits to purchase or sell the asset and derecognized when the 
Partnership no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the instrument is 
sold, or all the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to an independent third party. 
 

2. Cash 
 

 2021 2020 
 
Restricted $          675,274 $                       - 
Unrestricted 5,668,993 5,635,211 
 

 $      6,344,267 $      5,635,211 

3. Property and Equipment 

 2021   2020 

Cost Amortization Net Book Value Cost Amortization Net Book Value 

 
Automotive $        268,572 $      224,807 $           43,765  $        308,454  $         246,456  $              61,998 
Buildings 71,925,473 16,139,415 55,786,058        71,141,681         15,392,200         55,749,481 
Computers and software 952,888 664,303 288,585          1,023,079              821,202              201,877 
Furniture and fixtures 4,569,973 2,964,828 1,605,145         5,278,233           3,977,956           1,300,277 
Land and improvements 11,923,998 - 11,923,998          9,973,159                          -           9,973,159 
Paving and landscaping 1,490,817 777,453 713,364          1,833,605            1,130,202              703,403

 $  91,131,722 $ 20,770,805 $  70,360,916  $  89,558,211  $   21,568,016  $     67,990,195 

 
During the year, the Partnership recorded a gain of $5,215,526 (2020 - $203,829) from the sale of property and equipment.  
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4. Properties under Development   
  2021 2020 

 Land and improvements $      4,038,654 $        3,963,136 
 Building and construction 855,406            523,060 

  $      4,894,060 $        4,486,196 
  

Properties under development consists of assets under active development or lands identified for development by the Partnership for 
sale to third parties. During the year, construction and other direct costs of $297,692 (2020 - $2,569,407), interest of $56,058 (2020 - 
$96,363) and salaries of $54,114 (2020 - $64,920) were capitalized, and accumulated costs of $nil (2020 - $11,292,464) were 
expensed in connection with the sale of properties under development. During the year $nil (2020 - $11,637,433) was transferred to 
properties and equipment on completion of development activities.  
 

5. Other Assets  
2021 

  
2020   

 
Prepaid expenses and deposits $       675,732   $          587,174  
Goodwill - Mighty Wash 308,719           308,719  
Investment in KBC Developments Ltd (Note 19) 606,667  600,000 
Other assets 257,984           94,903  

 $    1,849,103   $      1,590,796  
 

6.   Debentures 
 

During the year, the entire debenture balance of $8,741,293 was repaid through two separate payments. The Partnership repaid 
$1,890,903 in February 2021 (February 2020 - $nil) and an additional $6,850,390 in December 2021 (December 2020 - $2,223,522).  
 

7. Long Term Debt 
 

As at December 31, 2021 there was $272,557 (2020 - $303,826) in deferred financing fees netted against long term debt.  

During the year, amortization of deferred financing fees amounted to $62,630 (2020 - $71,646) and $10,120 in fees were incurred 
(2020 - $1,482). 

 2021 2020 
     

Loan payable to BDC - with fixed monthly repayments of $73,875 principal plus 
interest, at 4.35% due January 23, 2031 secured by a first mortgage over two 
Whitehorse hotel properties.                  $      7,870,144  

              
$12,244,022  

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.00%, with fixed 
monthly repayments of $33,330 principal plus interest due September 30, 2037 
secured by a second mortgage over two Whitehorse hotel properties.                         7,330,928  

          
7,726,196  

    
Loan payable to First Nations Bank - interest at FNB’s prime rate plus 1.25%, 
due October 31, 2025, with monthly principal repayments of $25,997 plus 
interest, secured by the following: first mortgage and assignment of rents on 
the Partnership's interest in the land and building at 4201 4th Avenue, 
Whitehorse, YT. 5,623,769  5,977,832 

Loan payable to BDC - interest at 4.00%, with fixed monthly repayments of 
$19,070 principal plus interest, due December 1, 2034 secured by a first 
mortgage and assignment of rents at 2180/2190 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse, YT. 

           
3,179,916  3,273,600 

Loan payable to RBC - interest at 4.37%, due June 6, 2022, payable in 
equal installments of $20,944 principal and interest, secured by a first 
mortgage over properties at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse, YT.  2,214,496  2,605,646 

 

 

Balance carried forward $       26,028,277 $   31.733.612 
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7.   Long Term Debt (continued) 
 2020 2019 

 
Balance brought forward    $       26,028,277 $   31.733.612 

   

Loan payable to Scotiabank – interest at 4.62% with fixed monthly repayment of 
$4,825 of principal plus interest, due June 30, 2023, secured by a first mortgage and 
assignment of rents over 212 Main Street, Whitehorse, YT.                 2,044,804   

    
2,126,536  

     
Loan payable to Scotiabank - interest at 2.94%, with fixed monthly repayments of 
$4,453 of principal and interest, due June 30, 2023 secured by a first mortgage and 
assignment of rents over three commercial units at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse YT.  

                
1,943,707   

                
652,677  

     
Loan payable to RBC – interest at 2.65% due September 1, 2024, with fixed blended 
payments of principal and interest of $6,058 per month, secured by a first mortgage on 
5025 5th Avenue, along with rents and leases from the property.  1,316,686  - 

Loan payable to RBC – interest at 2.93%, due June 1, 2026, with blended payments of 
principal and interest of $6,438 per month, secured by a first mortgage on 2251 Second 
Avenue, along with assignment of rents and leases. 1,305,310  - 

Loan payable to RBC – interest at 3.3%, due December 1, 2024, with blended payments of 
principal and interest of $7,422 per month, secured by a first mortgage on the property of 
9016 Quartz Road, Whitehorse, YT.                1,174,643   

        
1,221,580  

Loan payable to RBC – interest at 2.93% due June 1, 2026, with blended payments of 
principal and interest of $7,318 per month, secured by a first mortgage on 49 Waterfront 
Place, along with assignment of rents and leases. 1,148,280  - 

Loan payable to RBC – interest at 2.85%, due March 16, 2023, with blended payments of 
principal and interest of $5,224 per month, secured by first assignment of rents from 
multiple units at 2237 Second Avenue, Whitehorse, YT. 1,091,825  - 

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.00%, with fixed monthly 
repayments of $4,160 principal plus interest due September 30, 2037 secured by a second 
mortgage and assignment of rents at 2180/2190 2nd Avenue Whitehorse, YT. 912,804  962,112 
               
Loan payable to BMO – interest at 2.55%, due August 31, 2024, with monthly 
blended payments of principal and interest of $6,090 per month, secured by the 
following: a first mortgage on the personal/movable property of Ketza Construction 
Corp., Lot 147 Whitehorse Industrial, and a joint and several guarantee from NVDLP 
and Ketza Construction Corp valued at $1,350,000. 
  666,849  - 
Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.00%, due March 23, 
2022, with monthly principal repayments of $5,000 secured by land and building on 
Lot 2A, Block B 335, Plan 2007-0028 Whitehorse.   471,290  530,729 

Loan payable to Tr'ondek Hwech' in Trust - interest at 6.00%, due May 31, 2034, with 
monthly blended payments of $6,751. Secured by a mortgage over several properties 
in Dawson City, YT.  464,242  733,840 
Loan payable to First Nations Bank - interest at 2.95%, due October 1, 2025, with 
monthly payments of principal and interest of $4,543 secured by a first mortgage on 
2193 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse and a general assignment over rental income from the 
properties.  381,762  414,730 

Loan payable to BDC - interest at 4.95%, due February 23, 2032, with monthly 
principal repayments of $2,756 plus interest, secured by the following: first mortgage 
and assignment of rents on the Partnership's interest in the land and building at 166 
Titanium Way, Whitehorse YT. 

                   363,825   
            

396,900  

Balance carried forward  $     39,313,584  $    39,000,986 
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7.   Long Term Debt (continued) 
     
Balance brought forward          39,313,584    39,000,986 

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.00%, due November 
23, 2031, with monthly principal repayments of $2,300 plus interest, secured by the 
following: first mortgage on 121 Copper Road, Whitehorse, YT; general assignment 
over property and equipment on the property.                    272,605               297,828 

Total  $     39,586,189  $    39,298,814 

 
The BDC floating base rate at December 31, 2021 was 4.55% (2020 – 4.55%). Scotiabank’s prime rate at December 31, 2021 was 2.71% 
(2020 -2.71%). RBC and First Nations bank prime rate at December 31, 2021 was 2.45% (2020 - 2.45%).  
 

Principal repayments on long term debt due over the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

2022 $       2,756,031 
2023 2,776,026 
2024 2,796,845 

2025 2,818,526 
2026 2,841,107 
Thereafter         25,597,653 

 $    39,586,189 
 

During the year the Partnership obtained no principal deferrals on loans (2020 - $1,100,651 in deferrals on nine mortgages). 

The Partnership’s debt agreements contain financial covenants which require minimum levels of tangible equity, debt service 
coverage, limitations on borrowings, and limitations on the use of proceeds of asset sales. The Partnership was in compliance with all 
its financial covenants as at December 31, 2021. 

 

8.  Operating Line of Credit 

The Partnership has no operating line of credit facilities available as at December 31, 2021 (2020 - $nil pledged, with a maximum 
authorized limit of $550,000). The Partnership has undertaken conversations to put into place a credit facility, secured by the 
properties it owns at the Rivers Reach II condominium complex. To date no credit facility has been advanced to the Partnership.  

 

9.  Financial Risk Management 

Credit Risk 

The Partnership is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that a customer, tenant or counterparty to a financial instrument 
defaults on their financial obligations; if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same counterparty; or if financial 
obligations which have similar economic characteristics such that they could be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. 
The Partnership’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to accounts and loans 
receivable. To mitigate the credit risk, the Partnership has accounts receivable widely distributed among its customer base, performs 
regular credit assessments of its customers, obtains advance deposits or with respect to loans receivable, takes a security interest in the 
property sold or the tenant’s assets or personal guarantees. The Partnership therefore believes that there is acceptable credit risk 
associated with the collection of its accounts or loans receivable. The Partnership has recorded an allowance of $nil (2020 - $nil) in 
respect of accounts receivable where collection is doubtful. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Changes in market interest rates may influence the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities, known 
as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. The Partnership is exposed to interest 
rate risk with respect to its short-term financial instruments all of which are expected to be realized within one to two years. As described in 
Note 7, a portion of the Partnership’s long-term debt bears interest at floating rates. Fluctuations in these rates will impact the cost of 
financing incurred and cash flows available in the future. 
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9.  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Partnership monitors its liquidity 
on a regular basis and will draw on existing credit facilities or obtain new financing as necessary to fund shortfalls. The significant financial 
liabilities of the Partnership are accounts payable and long-term debt.  

10. Loans Receivable 

 

 
 

2021 

  
 

2020 
Mortgages receivable $       700,436 $    797,407 
Loans receivable (Note 11) 302,093  805,781 
Advances to joint ventures (Note 11) 525,519  214,671 

 $   1,528,048  $ 1,817,859 

(i) Loans Receivable 
Loans receivable represent advances to or on behalf of commercial tenants for the purpose of completing leasehold improvements on 
properties owned by the Partnership. The terms of the loans do not exceed 15 years, with interest rates ranging from 1% to 9%. The total 
interest earned on the loans in the year was $19,735 (2020 ‑ $34,116). The maximum credit risk exposure associated with the loans 
receivable occurs if the borrower defaults on repayment of the loan. Therefore, the carrying value of the loans receivable balance 
represents the Partnership's exposure to the related credit risk without taking into account any rent that may be outstanding and the 
remaining term of the commercial lease or any collateral or any other credit security. The balance of loans receivable includes a provision 
for impairment of $nil (2020 - $nil). 

Also included in the loans receivable balance are loans advanced to employees related to the timed unit purchase plan. Current 
employees repay their individual loans via payroll deduction, while former employees who have opted to remain in the plan pay an 
annual lump sum in February of each year. These loans have been provided at a zero-interest rate, and all loans will be repaid in full by 
December 31, 2024 
 

(ii) Mortgages Receivable 
Mortgages receivable represent vendor take back loans made to purchasers of properties sold by the Partnership. In all cases, security is 
provided by the underlying property. Interest is charged at rates ranging between 5% and 7% per annum. The total interest earned on 
these loans in the year was $14,280 (2020 - $36,483). The exposure to the credit risk associated with the mortgage’s receivable occurs if 
the borrower defaults on repayment of the mortgage. Therefore, the carrying value of the mortgage receivable balance represents the 
Partnership's maximum exposure to the related credit risk without taking into account any collateral or any other credit enhancements. 
There were no impairment provisions recorded on the mortgages receivable as at December 31, 2021.  
 
(iii)  Advances to Joint Ventures  
Advances to Joint Ventures are made to assist working capital requirements and represent advances made in excess of the Partnership’s 
proportionate share in the jointly controlled assets. Interest is charged at 5% per annum when the other joint venturer does not 
contribute their proportionate share. The total interest earned in the year was $12,641 (2019 - $11,289).  
 

11. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 
Certain accounts on the balance sheet and income statement include balances and transactions with related parties, which are described 
below. The Partnership’s related parties include partners, employees, board members or companies controlled by partners, employees or 
board members of the Partnership. During the year, the following transactions took place: 

 $10,820,979 of units were purchased by existing unitholders of the Partnership 

 $5,620,000 of properties were purchased from employees or unitholders of the Partnership 

 $1,932,900 of properties were sold to employees, unitholders, or parties directly related to employees or unitholders of the 
Partnership 

 $1,192,437 of units were purchased by employees or Directors of the Partnership 

 $249,910 of management fees were charged to Joint Ventures 

 $130,992 of Retention Awards were converted to units by employees or Directors of the Partnership 

 $125,652 of fees were paid to Directors of the Partnership 
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11. Related Party Transactions and Balances (continued) 
 

 $42,153 of interest was received from unitholders or joint ventures in which the Partnership has a proportionate interest 

 $19,778 of rent was received from an employee or a company controlled by an employee 

 $7,763 of rent was paid to companies controlled by a Director of the Partnership 
 

In 2020, the following transactions took place: 
 

 $4,903,791 of properties were sold to unitholders of the Partnership 

 $3,500,000 of short term loans were repaid to unitholders of the Partnership 

 $1,194,284 of properties were purchased from unitholders or employees of the Partnership 

 $557,083 of units were purchased by employees or Directors of the Partnership 

 $308,116 of management fees were charged to Joint Ventures 

 $292,840 of loans were made to employees for equity purchases 

 $103,326 of fees were paid to Directors of the Partnership 

 $70,166 of financing charges and interest was paid to various investors in which the Partnership had proportionate interests 

 $61,509 of rent was received from a company controlled by the Partnership or a joint venture in which the Partnership has a 
proportionate interest 

 $35,200 of other fees were received from joint ventures in which the Partnership has a proportionate interest 

 $23,056 of interest was received from a company controlled by an employee of the Partnership or from joint ventures 

 $6,463 of other fees were paid to employees, partners or companies controlled by employees of the Partnership 
 

The related party transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange value, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
 

As at December 31, 2021, the Partnership had the following amounts recorded in accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities: 

• Accounts receivable from related parties of $289,393 (2020 ‑ $181). 

• Amounts due from its joint venture partners of $373,671 (2020- $101,727).  

• Accounts payable and accrued liabilities owing to related parties of $1,794 (2020 ‑ $nil). 

• Amounts due to its joint venture partners of $6,667 (2020 - $15,476). 

12. Segments 

As at December 31, 2021, the Partnership had five reportable segments: hotels, rentals, restaurants, property under development 
and other. Hotel operations consist m a i n l y  of room rentals. Restaurant operations consist of food and beverage services. Rental 
properties consist of commercial and residential properties held under long term lease. Property under development consists of 
lands and buildings under construction or held for future development. 

 

Restaurants was not a reportable segment in 2020. The food and beverage operations that did exist in 2020 were previously included in 
the Hotels reporting segment. For the sake of comparison, the full year of food and beverage revenues and expenses has been 
separated for 2020. During fiscal 2021, the Partnership operated three food and beverage establishments for varying amounts of time 
(namely, the Gold Pan Saloon for twelve months, Earls Whitehorse for nine months, and the Belly of the Bison for five months). 
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12.   Segments (continued) 

2021 
 

 
 

Hotels 

 

Rentals Restaurants 
Property under 

development 

 

Other 

 

Total 

Revenue $     7,545,239 $      4,484,337 $    4,641,817 $                   - $      626,484 $   17,297,877 

Amortization 617,570 1,609,804 164,703 - 117,240 2,509,317 

Interest income - - - - 88,252 88,252 

Interest expense 797,237 827,593 - - - 1,624,830 

Net income (loss) 1,831,925 1,244,214 150,421 - 2,704,812 5,931,371 

Properties and equipment 14,511,883 53,177,806 2,398,587 4,894,060 272,580 75,254,976 

 
2020 

 

Hotels 

 

Rentals Restaurants 
Property under 

development 

 

Other 

 

Total 

Revenue  $   8820,508   $       3,847,859  $   2,433,861 $11,653,239
 5,187,

 $           485,743   $    27,241,210  

Amortization 943,098 1,455,394              
1,455,394  

- - 56,141         2,454,632  
Interest income - - - -                 90,825  90,825 
Interest expense 829,100 834,427 - -                    -          1,682,530  

Net income (loss) 1,192,498             964,350        330,212 360,795 (1,230,734) 1,617,082 
Properties and equipment 21,045,226 46,724,607 - 4,486,196               220,362       72,476,391  

 
 

13.  Partners’ Equity 

At December 31, 2021 there were 30,747,628 partnership units outstanding (2020 – 24,885,973). During the year, an aggregate 
5,861,555 units were issued for proceeds of $15,774,046, represented by the following transactions: 

 5,154,126 were issued during a Private Placement for proceeds of $13,954,796 

 519,551 were issued as consideration for acquisitions during the year at a value of $1,324,855 

 103,347 were issued as part of the Distribution Reinvestment Plan at a value of $265,535 

 48,331 units were converted from Retention Awards to units at a value of $130,992 

 36,250 were issued on a timed purchase basis at a value of $99,869 
 

In 2020: 

 1,911,607 units were issued for proceeds of $4,574,032.  

 4,079,969 units were redeemed for $11,244,815. Of these, 3,979,969 units were redeemed for $10,964,815 in secured 
debentures and 100,000 units were redeemed for $280,000 as partial consideration for the purchase of a River’s Reach 
condominium from the Partnership by a Unitholder. 

 277,732 units were issued for $nil consideration to acquire all the shares in the Partnership’s General Partner to facilitate 
the alignment of the General Partner’s shareholdings with that of the Partnership. 
 

14. Commitments 
 

The Partnership has a commitment to make monthly payments to a tenant under the terms of a lease agreement. Payments required 
under the terms of the agreement are as follows: 

 
2022 100,000 
2023 50,000 

Subsequent to year end, the Partnership completed the sale of the property that included the unit related to this commitment. As part of 
the sale agreement, the purchasers agreed to absorb the commitment related to this unit, and as such, the Partnership has been absolved 
of this commitment moving forward.  
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15.  Change in Presentation of Comparative Financial Statements 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the method of presentation adopted in the current year.  
 

16. Contingencies 
As at December 31, 2021, there are no material pending claims by or against the Partnership. 

As at December 31, 2020, the Partnership was involved with a pending claim related to employment both by and against the 
Partnership. It was the opinion of management, based on the advice and information provided by its legal counsel, that these 
claims were not of a material nature. These claims were settled in 2021, and as anticipated, did not materially impact the financial 
position or results of operations of the Partnership. 

 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the outbreak of a strain of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as 
a pandemic which has resulted in a series of public health and emergency measures that have been put in place to combat the 
spread of the virus. The duration and impact of COVID-19 is unknown at this time and it is not possible to reliably estimate the 
impact that the length and severity of these developments will have on the financial results and the condition of the Partnership in 
future periods. 
 

17. Jointly Controlled Assets and Jointly Controlled Enterprises 
 

Name Interest Activity Year of Inception 
TW Selkirk Joint Venture 49% Lease of commercial properties 2011 
Northern Carcross Joint Venture 50% Lease of commercial property 2013 
Dawson Downtown Hotel 50% Hotel Operations 2013 

 Bedrock Motel 49% Hotel Operations 2019 
44588 Yukon Inc 50% Lease of commercial property 2021 
 

 
The Partnership’s proportionate share of the assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses of its jointly controlled assets and its jointly 
controlled enterprises where it has a right to the individual assets and obligations for the individual liabilities are included in these 
consolidated financial statements as follows. The Partnership is liable for the liabilities of the jointly held assets to the extent of its 
proportionate share in each entity. 

Assets 2021 2020 

Cash $           245,676 $                 162,392  

Accounts receivable 66,153 144,810 

Prepaid expenses 56,139                         61,943  

Inventory 59,493                 33,500  

 $           427,461 $                 402,645 

Property and equipment 3,226,672                   2,519,198  

Property under development 968,230 796,396 

Organization costs 1,227 1,227  

 4,723,590                       3,719,466  

 
Liabilities and Equity   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $           165,573   $                 150,309  
Government remittances 16,379 9,479  

Current Liabilities  181,952 159,788  
Long term debt 1,550,789 1,350,864 

 1,732,741  1,510,652 

Equity 2,990,849 2,208,814 

 $        4,723,590 $             3,719,466 
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Income Statement  2021 2020 

Revenues    

Hotels  $         1,310,508 $                  1,215,700  

Rentals  149,620                         112,558  

 $         1,460,128  $                  1,328,258  
 

Expenses    
Hotels  1,016,480                   1,066,153  

Amortization  133,806                       163,363  

Property  26,854                         16,038  

Interest  68,687                         70,251  

Expenses  1,245,826                   1,315,805  

Net income  $           214,705  $                      12,453  

 
 

  

Cash flows from operating activities $           41,705 $                      13,255 

Cash flows from investing activities  $      (828,155)  $                 (476,352)  

Cash flows from financing activities  $         875,461  $                      74,244 

 
18. Investment in KBC Developments Ltd. 

 
The Partnership has invested $606,667 for a one third ownership interest in KBC Developments Ltd. (“KBC”) for the purpose of 
building and operating an assisted living facility in Whitehorse YT (Normandy Manor). In addition, the Partnership entered into a 
contract to manage the construction and eventual operation of KBC. In March 2021 KBC entered into a mortgage arrangement for 
up to $34.5 million of which $5 million is forgivable and the balance is repayable at favourable terms. To support this mortgage 
arrangement, the Partnership committed to a joint and several guarantee of a construction mortgage of $41 million. The 
guarantee will be rescinded on completion and stabilization of operations of an assisted living facility in Whitehorse. The 
Partnership has performed an analysis of its interest in this jointly controlled enterprise and has determined that it has a right to 
the net assets of the enterprise and as a result has recorded its investment in KBC at cost. The Partnership’s proportionate share of 
KBC’s assets and liabilities is as follows: 
 
 Assets                    2021 2020 

 Cash $         684,128 $            49,403 
 Accounts receivable  185,100          63,041 
 Property under development 7,075,918 1,680,345 
 Other                                                                                                                        29,728 27,000 

      7,974,874       1,819,789 
 Liabilities 

 Accounts payable     1,397,305             53,122 
 Deferred revenue                                                                                          1,166,667          1,166,667  
 Long-Term Debt 4,804,236 - 
 

       7,368,207       1,219,789 
     
  

 Equity $        606,667 $         600,000  

17. Jointly Controlled Assets and Jointly Controlled Enterprises 
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19. Government Assistance Received During the Year 

During the year, the Partnership received government assistance due to the COVID pandemic and assistance for the renovation of 
one hotel property (2020 – two hotel properties). 
 

The COVID assistance consisted of: 
1. $1,054,883 received and recognized as a reduction of expenses (2020 - $75,614) 
2. $470,710 received and recognized as revenues (2020 - $2,676,420) 
3. $124,862 received and recognized as a reduction of capital expenditures (2020 - $389,811) 

 
20. Earls Acquisition 

On April 1, 2021, the Partnership purchased 100% of the shares of Earls Restaurant Whitehorse Ltd. for $1,320,000. Consideration 
was given as follows: 

 $588,410 in cash 
 $464,868 in Partnership Units 
 $218,440 in loans that were due to the Partnership that were applied to the purchase price 
 $48,283 in other closing-related adjustments 

 
The breakdown of amounts recognized for each class of asset upon acquisition measured at their acquisition date fair value, is as 
follows: 

 Leasehold improvements of $817,712 
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment of $373,192 
 Net current assets of $62,970 
 Franchise fee of $40,218 
 Computer Equipment of $25,907 

 
The Partnership did not assume any liabilities as a result of this transaction.  
 

21. High Country Inn 
On December 22, 2021, the Partnership completed the sale of the 82-room High Country Inn to Safe At Home Society Yukon. The 
sale was completed using a $10,160,000 promissory note, interest free until January 31, 2022, at which time the note would begin 
accruing interest at an annual rate of 5% on outstanding amounts owed. This note was repaid at year end as described in Note 22. 
 
The Partnership recognized into other income a gain on the sale in year of $4.85 million. As a result of the sale, a $3.5 million 
special principal payment was made in December 2021 on one of the Partnership’s BDC loans. 
 

22. Subsequent Events 
Subsequent to year end, the Partnership completed the following transactions that it deems to meet the criteria for subsequent 
event disclosure: 
 
On February 14th, the Partnership received the first installment payment of $4.5 million related to the promissory note that was 
initiated to facilitate the sale of the High Country Inn. On March 18th, the remaining $5.66 million of principal outstanding on the 
promissory note was received by the Partnership. Interest received on the promissory note amounted to $44,296. 
 
On February 18th, the Partnership completed the share sale of Iditarod Landscaping Inc. (otherwise known as Mighty Wash Car 
Wash) to an existing unitholder for $1.2 million. Iditarod Landscaping Inc. was previously 100% owned by the Partnership. As a 
result of the sale, the Partnership retired the entire principal amount of the loan associated with this property. 
 
On February 22nd, the Partnership completed the sale of the property located at 2220 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse, YT for proceeds of 
$2.1 million. As a result of the sale, the Partnership retired the entire principal amount of the loan associated with this property. 
 
On March 8th, the Partnership completed the sale of the properties located at 2180 and 2190 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse, YT, for 
proceeds of $10.5 million. As a result of the sale, the Partnership retired the entire principal amount of the loan associated with 
these properties. 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
 
General Partner   Northern Vision Development Corporation 
 
Board of Directors      Head Office 
 
Hannes Kovac 2       Suite 209, 212 Main Street 
Daryn Leas 4       Whitehorse, YT 
Murray Leitch1,4       Y1A 2B1 
Ian McAuley 3         
Hon. Piers McDonald, Chairman 1,2,3,4    Phone: 867-668-7886   
Lori Simcox1       Fax: 867-668-7851 
Rich Thompson 1,2,3,4            
 

1  Denotes member of the Audit Committee    www.nvdlp.com 
2  Denotes member of the Development Committee 
3  Denotes member of the Hotel Committee  
4  Denotes member of the Governance and Compensation Committee 
 

 
Senior Management       
        Calgary Office 
Richard Thompson, CEO      Suite 500, 5119 Elbow Drive S.W. 
Katja Schmidt, CHO      Calgary, AB  
Mark McGarrigle, CFO      T2V 1H2 
Gary Gazankas, CPO      Phone: 403-660-0073 
Philp Fitzgerald, Senior VP, Finance 
Dylan Soo, VP Governance and Administration   Legal Counsel  
Adam Gerle, VP Marketing and Sales      
Eduardo Castaneda, Director of Maintenance            Lamarche Lang & Barrett 
        Whitehorse, YT 
         
        Auditors 
         

Deloitte LLP 
 Langley, B.C.     
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